# Professional Literature Overview

Blue Light - Digital Eye Strain (DES) -Vitamin D and Their Effect on Ocular

### **Table of Contents**

Blue Light and Its Effect on the Ocular	3-16
1.1 Blue Light Introduction	4
1.2 Physiological Effect of Blue Light	8
1.3 The Visual Effect of Blue Light	14

About Digital Eye Strain (DES)	17-23
2.1 Dry Eye Disease Symptoms	18
2.2 Digital Eye Syndrome and Dry Eye	21



2

Ocular & Vitamin D	24-35
3.1 The relationship between Blue Light and Vitamin D	25
3.2 The influence of Vitamin D on ocular health	28

\*The Professional Literature Overview (Overview) with respect to blue light- digital eye strain and vitamin D and their Effect on the Ocular is a compilation of general information, literature, and research summary (as cited and referenced specifically in the Overview) assembled and prepared by a third party for general knowledge only and does not, in no event, replaces any kind of professional advice that the reader should always seek. Company assumes no responsibility or liability for any errors, inaccuracy and/or omissions in the content of the Overview, and any content therein and disclaims liability for the use of the information contained in this Overview to the full extent permitted by the law. The Overview was prepared for LIPICARE by Dr. Nir Erdinest.

## Blue Light and Its Effect on the Ocular

## 1.1 Blue Light Introduction

#### Abstract

The blue light of the spectrum includes short wavelengths up to 500nm. This high-energy light is primarily derived from the sun, but modern technology, including artificial environment lighting and digital screens, have become a significant source. Over the past few decades, science has been investigating the advantages and detriments that come from exposure to this light.

- 1. J. Marshall, The blue light paradox: problem or panacea, Mivision:Bringing Optics into Focus (2017).
- T.W. Cronin, M.J. Bok, Photoreception and vision in the ultraviolet, Journal of Experimental Biology 219(18) (2016) 2790-2801.
- 3. K.J. Gaston, T.W. Davies, S.L. Nedelec, L.A. Holt, Impacts of artificial light at night on biological timings, Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 48 (2017) 49-68.
- 4. M. Hatori, C. Gronfier, R.N. Van Gelder, P.S. Bernstein, J. Carreras, S. Panda, et al., Global rise of potential health hazards caused by blue light-induced circadian disruption in modern aging societies, npj Aging and Mechanisms of Disease 3(1) (2017) 1-3.

#### **Visual Spectrum**

Light is essential for life. Science has discovered that light is divided into waves where the length of each wave can be measured in nanometers [1]. A segment of these wavelengths is visible to the human eye, known as the visual spectrum, and perceived as colors when absorbed in the retina's photoreceptors[2]. Apart from color qualities, wavelengths have additional characteristics, energy potential, and influence on their surroundings which actualizes as the light travels from medium to medium [3-6].

#### **Ultraviolet and Blue Light**

One segment of light is known as ultraviolet and blue light, which consists of the short-wavelength end of the spectrum. In this spectrum region, individual photons have enough energy to induce photochemical changes in absorbing molecules [7-10]. The primary natural source of this light is the sun, which was the only source until electricity and incandescent lights were introduced [11-13].

#### **Light Emission on Digital Screens**

This artificial light has a similar spectrum, though slightly skewed to the red, long-wavelength end [7]. In an attempt to reduce energy consumption, modern light bulbs have evolved to compact fluorescent lamps (CFLs) and light-emitting diodes (LEDs), which have more blue spectral emissions [14-17]. Digital screens also use LED technology due to their high luminous efficiency, durability, and small size [18-21]. LED lights are so pervasive that they are even in technology such as appliances, thus blue light-emitting sources surround people as never before in history. It must be appreciated that the amount of high-energy light emitted by the sun far surpasses that emitted from electronic devices [22-25]. A calculation of fifteen minutes outside has been shown to equate to between ten to thirteen hours of looking at digital devices [18].

The delicate balance between excess penetration of part of the blue spectrum light being a hazard versus blue light as essential for healthy living is one science is still investigating [26-30].

#### **Blue Light Characteristic**

Recent research has confirmed the peak of blue light hazard at 435 nm, with an action spectrum from 415 to 455 nm [31, 32]. However, one must keep in mind that the degree of effect is related to various factors, including the intensity of the light, distance of illumination, and the direction of the line of sight [26, 27, 33]. The concentration in irradiance increases up to a hundred times between the cornea and the retina due to the refractive power. This penetration of optical radiation is a biohazard, yet light is an essential component in the visual process. The longer blue light wavelengths, around 470nm, have been demonstrated to be essential for well-being, influencing the circadian rhythm and hormone secretion [26, 27, 32, 33]. The atmospheric ozone layer surrounding the earth provides a protective barrier from harmful ultraviolet rays up to 330 nm by filtering some and attenuating other

wavelengths [34-37]. The thinning of this layer, latitude, time of year, and specific location all affect the quality of this protection [38-40].

#### Photochemical Damage of the Retina

There are two main mechanisms by which light damage occurs in the retina, the eye's most sensitive and nonregenerative tissue. These mechanisms occur with slightly different absorption and spectral region [41-44]. The first is defined as resulting from relatively low intensity and very long exposure. The damage from this exposure appears to result from absorption within the light-sensitive cells [45-47]. Short wavelength or blue cones seem to be the most sensitive. The second type of damage results from relatively high intensity, short exposures [48-52]. In this case, the primary damage seems to present in the retinal pigment epithelium and is thought to be associated with absorption by lipofuscin [18].

- 1. W.T. Ham Jr, Ocular hazards of light sources: review of current knowledge, Journal of Occupational Medicine (1983) 101-103.
- 2. D. Sliney, What is light? The visible spectrum and beyond, Eye 30(2) (2016) 222-229.
- 3. G. Wald, Human vision and the spectrum, Science 101(2635) (1945) 653-658.
- 4. G.C. Brainard, J.P. Hanifin, J.M. Greeson, B. Byrne, G. Glickman, E. Gerner, M.D. Rollag, Action spectrum for melatonin regulation in humans: evidence for a novel circadian photoreceptor, Journal of Neuroscience 21(16) (2001) 6405-6412.
- 5. E. Ludvigh, E. McCarthy, Absorption of visible light by the refractive media of the human eye, Archives of Ophthalmology 20(1) (1938) 37-51.
- 6. K. Thapan, J. Arendt, D.J. Skene, An action spectrum for melatonin suppression: evidence for a novel non-rod, non-cone photoreceptor system in humans, The Journal of physiology 535(1) (2001) 261-267.
- 7. J. Marshall, The blue light paradox: problem or panacea, Mivision: Bringing Optics into Focus (2017).
- 8. R. Tousey, The extreme ultraviolet spectrum of the sun, Space Science Reviews 2(1) (1963) 3-69.
- 9. C.L. Ballaré, Stress under the sun: spotlight on ultraviolet-B responses, American Society of Plant Biologists, 2003.
- H. Friedman, Ultraviolet and X Rays from the Sun, Annual Review of Astronomy and Astrophysics 1(1) (1963) 59-96.
- 11. B.T. Smith, S. Belani, A.C. Ho, Ultraviolet and near-blue light effects on the eye, International ophthalmology clinics 45(1) (2005) 107-115.
- 12. J. Zwinkels, Light, electromagnetic spectrum, Encyclopedia of Color Science and Technology (2015) 1-8.
- 13. T.W. Cronin, M.J. Bok, Photoreception and vision in the ultraviolet, Journal of Experimental Biology 219(18) (2016) 2790-2801.
- 14. K.J. Gaston, T.W. Davies, S.L. Nedelec, L.A. Holt, Impacts of artificial light at night on biological timings, Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 48 (2017) 49-68.
- 15. F. van Langevelde, J.A. Ettema, M. Donners, M.F. WallisDeVries, D. Groenendijk, Effect of spectral composition of artificial light on the attraction of moths, Biological conservation 144(9) (2011) 2274-2281.
- 16. D. Sanders, E. Frago, R. Kehoe, C. Patterson, K.J. Gaston, A meta-analysis of biological impacts of artificial light at night, Nature Ecology & Evolution 5(1) (2021) 74-81.
- 17. E.K. Perkin, F. Hölker, J.S. Richardson, J.P. Sadler, C. Wolter, K. Tockner, The influence of artificial light on stream and riparian ecosystems: questions, challenges, and perspectives, Ecosphere 2(11) (2011) 1-16.
- J. O'hagan, M. Khazova, L. Price, Low-energy light bulbs, computers, tablets and the blue light hazard, Eye 30(2) (2016) 230-233.
- 19. J.H. Oh, H. Yoo, H.K. Park, Y.R. Do, Analysis of circadian properties and healthy levels of blue light from smartphones at night, Scientific reports 5(1) (2015) 1-9.
- 20. A.C. Owens, S.M. Lewis, The impact of artificial light at night on nocturnal insects: A review and synthesis, Ecology and evolution 8(22) (2018) 11337-11358.
- 21. S. Point, Blue light hazard: are exposure limit values protective enough for newborn infants, Radioprotection 53(3) (2018) 219-224.

- 22. K.E. West, M.R. Jablonski, B. Warfield, K.S. Cecil, M. James, M.A. Ayers, et al., Blue light from light-emitting diodes elicits a dose-dependent suppression of melatonin in humans, Journal of applied physiology (2011).
- 23. C. Walsh, R. Prendergast, J. Sheridan, B. Murphy, Blue light from light-emitting diodes directed at a single eye elicits a dose-dependent suppression of melatonin in horses, The Veterinary Journal 196(2) (2013) 231-235.
- 24. K.J. Gaston, M.E. Visser, F. Hölker, The biological impacts of artificial light at night: the research challenge, The Royal Society, 2015.
- 25. M.A. Islam, G. Kuwar, J.L. Clarke, D.-R. Blystad, H.R. Gislerød, J.E. Olsen, S. Torre, Artificial light from light emitting diodes (LEDs) with a high portion of blue light results in shorter poinsettias compared to high pressure sodium (HPS) lamps, Scientia Horticulturae 147 (2012) 136-143.
- 26. E. Kitchel, The effects of blue light on ocular health, Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness 94(6) (2000) 399-403.
- 27. X. Zhu, X. Guo, J. Zhang, J. Liu, F. Jiang, Phosphor-free, color-mixed, and efficient illuminant: Multi-chip packaged LEDs for optimizing blue light hazard and non-visual biological effects, Optics and Lasers in Engineering 134 (2020) 106174.
- H. Kim, H.-s. Kim, C.-H. Jung, I. Yoon, A method for reducing blue light hazard from white light-emitting diodes using colourimetric characterization of the display, International Journal of Control and Automation 8(6) (2015) 9-18.
- 29. M. Hatori, C. Gronfier, R.N. Van Gelder, P.S. Bernstein, J. Carreras, S. Panda, et al., Global rise of potential health hazards caused by blue light-induced circadian disruption in modern aging societies, npj Aging and Mechanisms of Disease 3(1) (2017) 1-3.
- 30. J.D. Bullough, A. Bierman, M.S. Rea, Evaluating the blue-light hazard from solid state lighting, International Journal of Occupational Safety and Ergonomics 25(2) (2019) 311-320.
- 31. Y.G. Yu, S.-Y. Oh, M.-S. Jung, A.-R. Jo, E.J. Choi, Performance optimization of blue-light blocking lens through analysis of blue light emitted from LED light sources, J Korean Ophthalmic Opt Soc 21(4) (2016) 393-400.
- 32. W. Tang, J.G. Liu, C. Shen, Blue light hazard optimization for high quality white LEDs, IEEE Photonics Journal 10(5) (2018) 1-10.
- 33. J. Moon, J. Yun, Y.D. Yoon, S.-I. Park, Y.-J. Seo, W.-S. Park, et al., Blue light effect on retinal pigment epithelial cells by display devices, Integrative Biology 9(5) (2017) 436-443.
- 34. K.Y. Kondratyev, O.M. Pokrovsky, C.A. Varotsos, Atmospheric ozone trends and other factors of surface ultraviolet radiation variability, Environmental Conservation 22(3) (1995) 259-261.
- K. Chance, J. Burrows, D. Perner, W. Schneider, Satellite measurements of atmospheric ozone profiles, including tropospheric ozone, from ultraviolet/visible measurements in the nadir geometry: a potential method to retrieve tropospheric ozone, Journal of Quantitative Spectroscopy and Radiative Transfer 57(4) (1997) 467-476.
- 36. Y. Matsumi, M. Kawasaki, Photolysis of atmospheric ozone in the ultraviolet region, Chemical Reviews 103(12) (2003) 4767-4782.
- 37. S. Madronich, Implications of recent total atmospheric ozone measurements for biologically active ultraviolet radiation reaching the Earth's surface, Geophysical Research Letters 19(1) (1992) 37-40.
- 38. R. Paur, A. Bass, The ultraviolet cross-sections of ozone: II. Results and temperature dependence, Atmospheric ozone, Springer1985, pp. 611-616.
- 39. M.I. Ratner, J.C. Walker, Atmospheric ozone and the history of life, Journal of Atmospheric Sciences 29(5) (1972) 803-808.
- 40. A. Bass, R. Paur, The ultraviolet cross-sections of ozone: I. The measurements, Atmospheric ozone, Springer1985, pp. 606-610.
- 41. R.D. Glickman, Phototoxicity to the retina: mechanisms of damage, International journal of toxicology 21(6) (2002) 473-490.
- 42. W.K. Noell, Effects of environmental lighting and dietary vitamin A on the vulnerability of the retina to light damage, Photochemistry and photobiology 29(4) (1979) 717-723.
- 43. J. Wu, S. Seregard, P.V. Algvere, Photochemical damage of the retina, Survey of ophthalmology 51(5) (2006) 461-481.
- 44. J. Marshall, Thermal and mechanical mechanisms in laser damage to the retina, Investigative ophthalmology & visual science 9(2) (1970) 97-115.

- 45. J. Stone, J. Maslim, K. Valter-Kocsi, K. Mervin, F. Bowers, Y. Chu, et al., Mechanisms of photoreceptor death and survival in mammalian retina, Progress in retinal and eye research 18(6) (1999) 689-735.
- A. Wenzel, C. Grimm, M. Samardzija, C.E. Remé, Molecular mechanisms of light-induced photoreceptor apoptosis and neuroprotection for retinal degeneration, Progress in retinal and eye research 24(2) (2005) 275-306.
- 47. P. Youssef, N. Sheibani, D. Albert, Retinal light toxicity, Eye 25(1) (2011) 1-14.
- 48. M. Ró⊠anowska, T. Sarna, Light-induced damage to the retina: role of rhodopsin chromophore revisited, Photochemistry and photobiology 81(6) (2005) 1305-1330.
- 49. D.T. Organisciak, D.K. Vaughan, Retinal light damage: mechanisms and protection, Progress in retinal and eye research 29(2) (2010) 113-134.
- 50. D. Van Norren, J. Vos, Light damage to the retina: an historical approach, Eye 30(2) (2016) 169-172.
- 51. U. Schlötzer-Schrehardt, A. Viestenz, G.O. Naumann, H. Laqua, S. Michels, U. Schmidt-Erfurth, Dose-related structural effects of photodynamic therapy on choroidal and retinal structures of human eyes, Graefe's Archive for Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology 240(9) (2002) 748-757.
- 52. M.A. Contin, M.M. Benedetto, M.L. Quinteros-Quintana, M.E. Guido, Light pollution: the possible consequences of excessive illumination on retina, Eye 30(2) (2016) 255-263.

## 1.2 Physiological Effect of Blue Light

#### Abstract

As the human eye is composed of various unique tissues, blue light will also affect each differently. Blue light's impact is influenced by time of exposure, intensity, distance, and direction. Natural tissue absorbing characteristics of structures such as the cornea and intraocular lens prevent severe damage, but what does manage to advance can be either beneficial or harmful. The former can include Vitamin D and melanin synthesis, regulation of the circadian rhythm. In contrast, excessive exposure can be harmful to cells by causing oxidative stress, inflammation, and ultimate death to cells in all ocular structures.

- 1. L. Deng, Y. Pang, Effect of outdoor activities in myopia control: meta-analysis of clinical studies, Optometry and Vision Science 96(4) (2019) 276-282.
- A. King, E. Gottlieb, D.G. Brooks, M.P. Murphy, J.L. Dunaief, Mitochondria-derived Reactive Oxygen Species Mediate Blue Light-induced Death of Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells, Photochemistry and photobiology 79(5) (2004) 470-475.
- 3. M. Bonnans, L. Fouque, M. Pelletier, R. Chabert, S. Pinacolo, L.Restellini, K. Cucumel, Blue light: Friend or foe?, Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology 212 (2020) 112026.
- 4. E. Anitua, M. de la Fuente, S. del Olmo-Aguado, C. Suarez-Barrio, J. Merayo-Lloves, F. Muruzabal, Plasma rich in growth factors reduces blue light-induced oxidative damage on retinal pigment epithelial cells and restores their homeostasis by modulating vascular endothelial growth factor and 2 pigment epithelium-derived factor expression, Clinical & amp; experimental ophthalmology 48(6) (2020) 830-838.

#### **Blue Light**

Blue light is acknowledged as wavelengths up to 500 nm, the 400-500nm portion defined as high energy visible light. As the human eye is composed of various tissues, each with unique characteristics, the permeation of blue light will affect the multiple ocular segments differently [1-4]. The degree of blue light's effect is related to various factors, including the intensity of the light, distance of illumination, and the direction of the line of sight [5]. The corneal tissue naturally absorbs wavelengths below 315 nm and drastically attenuates the 315-400 nm wavelengths [6-8]. Most of what remains is absorbed by the lens, and what manages to progress is further filtered through the vitreous. Ultimately, some radiation reaches the retina and optic nerve[9]. This discussion will focus on this light's long-term effects rather than from acute high-intensity exposure [10, 11].

#### **Blue Light Exposure**

Lids surround the eye, and though it is not the center of this discussion, the effects of blue light on this thin skin tissue should be mentioned. Ultraviolet (UV) light is associated with positive health effects as it catalyzes Vitamin D synthesis and triggers melanin production when in contact with epidermis cells, thus in proper quantity reduces the incidence of several autoimmune diseases and cancers .[12-15] Studies have established that excess exposure to ultraviolet (UV) light is a significant cause of skin aging. The blue light of visible light (400-500nm) has also been demonstrated to have harmful effects on skin by causing oxidative stress and destruction of flavin chromophores[5, 16-20]. One study found that visible light-induced increased skin pigmentation was more sustained than that induced by UVA radiation, but the effects are skin type-dependent [21].

#### **Blue Light and Oxidative Damage**

The first structures that encounter blue light as it travels towards the eye are the cornea and conjunctiva. Surface exposure to blue light significantly decreases cellular viability by increasing reactive oxygen species (ROS) production in corneal epithelial cells and then triggers inflammation of corneal epithelial cells induced by hyperosmotic pressur[5, 22-28]. The oxidative damage and apoptosis lead to additional ocular inflammation, so the cycle continues[22, 29-32]. It seems blue light's effects on the cornea are not limited to the epithelial cells but also has an inhibitory effect on corneal stromal cell activity, dependent on dose and time[14, 16, 33-39].

#### **Blue Light Phototoxicity Molecular Damage**

Blue light exposure can generate pro-inflammatory factors and vascular dysplasia release, which can induce blood vessel permeability [16, 40, 41]. Subsequently, harmful blood components such as immune complexes and lymphotoxin can leak into the retina [42-44]. A break of the blood retinal barrier can ultimately cause photoreceptor cell damage [5, 45]. The retinal damage by blue light has been labeled by researchers Ishii and Rohrer as the "bystander effect" because of the ability to cause local photo-oxidative stress and indirectly induce biological effects in adjacent cells[45].

#### Blue Light Phototoxicity on the Ocular Surface

Conjunctival epithelial cells have shown even greater photosensitivity than the corneal epithelial cells [5, 33]. Conjunctival pterygium is one manifestation of long-term exposure to ultraviolet sun rays. Hyperosmolar stress (such as a dry environment or an eye overexposed due to decreased blinking and increased dehydration of tears) potentiates blue light phototoxicity, increasing inflammation, altering mitochondrial membrane potential, and triggering the glutathione-based antioxidant system [33, 45], suggesting dry eye patients may be more susceptible to blue light toxicity [46]. Studies have shown that blue light can induce ROS production in the mitochondria of lens epithelial cells, as in the cornea, which may contribute to cataract formation. Alternatively, exposure to blue light can induce dry eye as the blue light triggers the release of inflammatory factors, reduces the secretion of tears and mucin, increases tear film instability, promotes the evaporation of tears [5, 33, 46-48].

#### **Blue Light Phototoxicity in the Crystalline Lens**

The intraocular lens contains substances including proteins, enzymes, and protein metabolites which absorb short wave blue light. These substances are continuously added to the lens's protein to produce yellow pigments, causing the lens gradually to darken and turn less transparent.

Blue light absorption by the lens increases significantly, blocking potential retinal damage by these rays [7, 8, 49].

#### **Blue Light Phototoxicity in the Retina**

Research has suggested that oxidative stress is considered an important mechanism in the pathogenesis of age-related cataracts[45]. Retinal phototoxicity has been demonstrated primarily as a result of high energy wavelengths of up to 455 nm. Blue light adversely affects the retina using several mechanisms. These mainly include oxidative stress response, upregulating ROS production, which causes mitochondrial and lysosomal dysfunction, and disrupting the epithelial barrier, culminating in inflammatory apoptosis, mitochondrial apoptosis, and DNA damage[5, 45]. Blue light can also affect optic nerve conduction by inhibiting mitochondrial activity[16, 40, 41]. These pathological changes may contribute to various eye diseases, such as diabetic retinopathy or glaucoma [5, 7, 26, 28, 50, 51]. Studies have exhibited accelerated AMD occurrence and development caused by blue light even many years after cataract surgery.[42, 45, 52-60]

#### **Blue Light Benefits**

There are positive physiological influences from blue light irradiation. Epidemiological evidence has demonstrated that outdoor activities seem to prevent myopia development [61-64]. The primary difference between digital screen use and outdoor activities is the exposure to natural sunlight, which is more concentrated in short-wave blue light than artificial light sources[61-64]. Though not completely understood, this exposure has been proposed to reduce the eye length via retinal dopamine release. In addition, research has also shown how essential blue light was for reducing astigmatism during development. Animal experiments have exhibited that monochromatic short-wave blue light inhibited the growth of the eye axis and the glass cavity in guinea pigs to produce relative hyperopia.[45]

Blue light has exhibited antibacterial properties in various wavelengths from ultraviolet to 412 nm, 440nm, and 450 nm. Particular attention has been given concerning treating corneal ulcers containing methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) infections[65-68]. Experiments to eradicate infection have been attempted both in combination with riboflavin and in isolation. Some concentrations and protocols have effectively controlled corneal ulcers. Utilizing this data will further develop accurate, effective procedures, and this treatment method is expected to be used in the future.[45]

- 1. S.A. Giannos, E.R. Kraft, L.J. Lyons, P.K. Gupta, Spectral evaluation of eyeglass blocking efficiency of ultraviolet/high-energy visible blue light for ocular protection, Optometry and Vision Science 96(7) (2019) 513.
- 2. Z. Kolahdouz, A. Rostamian, M. Kolahdouz, T. Ma, H. van Zeijl, K. Zhang, Output blue light evaluation for phosphor based smart white LED wafer level packages, Optics express 24(4) (2016) 3216-3229.
- 3. S.A. Salma, K.T. Rahma, A. Widyanti, Suprijanto, Review of blue light research: It potential to increase rail safety in Indonesia, AIP Conference Proceedings, AIP Publishing LLC, 2019, p. 030073.
- 4. L.Y.G.W.P. Shao, J.P.H.H.H. Yan, J.X.S.W.L. Sun, C.Z.H.Z. Biao, A study on wavelength stability of GaN-based blue light emitting diodes [J], Acta Physica Sinica 8 (2004).
- 5. X. Ouyang, J. Yang, Z. Hong, Y. Wu, Y. Xie, G. Wang, Mechanisms of blue light-induced eye hazard and protective measures: A review, Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy 130 (2020) 110577.
- 6. L. Sahin, M.G. Figueiro, Alerting effects of short-wavelength (blue) and long-wavelength (red) lights in the afternoon, Physiology & behavior 116 (2013) 1-7.
- 7. M.A. Mainster, Violet and blue light blocking intraocular lenses: photoprotection versus photoreception, British journal of ophthalmology 90(6) (2006) 784-792.
- 8. M.A. Mainster, J. Sparrow, How much blue light should an IOL transmit?, British journal of ophthalmology 87(12) (2003) 1523-1529.
- 9. J. Marshall, The blue light paradox: problem or panacea, Mivision: Bringing Optics into Focus (2017).
- 10. G. Tosini, I. Ferguson, K. Tsubota, Effects of blue light on the circadian system and eye physiology, Molecular vision 22 (2016) 61.
- 11. C. Roehlecke, A. Schaller, L. Knels, R.H. Funk, The influence of sublethal blue light exposure on human RPE cells, Molecular Vision 15 (2009) 1929.
- 12. T.X. Phan, B. Jaruga, S.C. Pingle, B.C. Bandyopadhyay, G.P. Ahern, Intrinsic photosensitivity enhances motility of T lymphocytes, Scientific reports 6(1) (2016) 1-11.
- J.D. Bullough, The blue-light hazard: A review, Journal of the Illuminating Engineering Society 29(2) (2000) 6-14.
- 14. P.V. Algvere, J. Marshall, S. Seregard, Age-related maculopathy and the impact of blue light hazard, Acta Ophthalmologica Scandinavica 84(1) (2006) 4-15.
- 15. K. Dong, E. Goyarts, E. Pelle, J. Trivero, N. Pernodet, Blue light disrupts the circadian rhythm and create damage in skin cells, International journal of cosmetic science 41(6) (2019) 558-562.
- B.F. Godley, F.A. Shamsi, F.-Q. Liang, S.G. Jarrett, S. Davies, M. Boulton, Blue light induces mitochondrial DNA damage and free radical production in epithelial cells, Journal of Biological Chemistry 280(22) (2005) 21061-21066.
- 17. W.D. Killgore, N.S. Dailey, A.C. Raikes, J.R. Vanuk, E. Taylor, A. Alkozei, Blue light exposure enhances neural efficiency of the task positive network during a cognitive interference task, Neuroscience Letters 735 (2020) 135242.
- B.F. Fernandes, J.-C.A. Marshall, M.N. Burnier, Blue light exposure and uveal melanoma, Ophthalmology 113(6) (2006) 1062-1062. e1.
- S. Di Cesare, S. Maloney, B.F. Fernandes, C. Martins, J.-C. Marshall, E. Antecka, et al., The effect of blue light exposure in an ocular melanoma animal model, Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research 28(1) (2009) 1-9.
- 20. J. Taillard, A. Capelli, P. Sagaspe, A. Anund, T. Akerstedt, P. Philip, In-car nocturnal blue light exposure improves motorway driving: a randomized controlled trial, (2012).
- 21. R. Campiche, S.J. Curpen, V. Lutchmanen-Kolanthan, S. Gougeon, M. Cherel, G. Laurent, et al., Pigmentation effects of blue light irradiation on skin and how to protect against them, International journal of cosmetic science 42(4) (2020) 399-406.
- 22. D.B. Lockwood, J.C. Wataha, J.B. Lewis, W.Y. Tseng, R.L. Messer, S.D. Hsu, Blue light generates reactive oxygen species (ROS) differentially in tumor vs. normal epithelial cells, Dental Materials 21(7) (2005) 683-688.
- 23. X. Zhang, J. Zhou, A.F. Fernandes, J.R. Sparrow, P. Pereira, A. Taylor, F. Shang, The proteasome: a target of oxidative damage in cultured human retina pigment epithelial cells, Investigative ophthalmology & visual science 49(8) (2008) 3622-3630.

- 24. W.-J. Chen, C. Wu, Z. Xu, Y. Kuse, H. Hara, E.J. Duh, Nrf2 protects photoreceptor cells from photo-oxidative stress induced by blue light, Experimental eye research 154 (2017) 151-158.
- 25. H. Chen, K. Li, Y. Cai, P. Wang, W. Gong, L.-F. Wu, T. Song, Light regulation of resistance to oxidative damage and magnetic crystal biogenesis in Magnetospirillum magneticum mediated by a Cys-less LOV-like protein, Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 104(18) (2020) 7927-7941.
- 26. T.H. Margrain, M. Boulton, J. Marshall, D.H. Sliney, Do blue light filters confer protection against age-related macular degeneration?, Progress in retinal and eye research 23(5) (2004) 523-531.
- 27. J. Cai, K.C. Nelson, M. Wu, P. Sternberg Jr, D.P. Jones, Oxidative damage and protection of the RPE, Progress in retinal and eye research 19(2) (2000) 205-221.
- 28. A. Wielgus, R. Collier, E. Martin, F. Lih, K. Tomer, C. Chignell, J. Roberts, Blue light induced A2E oxidation in rat eyes–experimental animal model of dry AMD, Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences 9(11) (2010) 1505-1512.
- 29. J.G. Hollyfield, V.L. Bonilha, M.E. Rayborn, X. Yang, K.G. Shadrach, L. Lu, et al., Oxidative damage–induced inflammation initiates age-related macular degeneration, Nature medicine 14(2) (2008) 194-198.
- S.E.G. Nilsson, S.P. Sundelin, U. Wihlmark, U.T. Brunk, Aging of cultured retinal pigment epithelial cells: oxidative reactions, lipofuscin formation and blue light damage, Documenta Ophthalmologica 106(1) (2003) 13-16.
- 31. M. Kernt, A. Walch, A.S. Neubauer, C. Hirneiss, C. Haritoglou MD, M.W. Ulbig, A. Kampik, Filtering blue light reduces light-induced oxidative stress, senescence and accumulation of extracellular matrix proteins in human retinal pigment epithelium cells, Clinical & experimental ophthalmology 40(1) (2012) e87-e97.
- 32. S. Santosa, P.J. Jones, Oxidative stress in ocular disease: Does lutein play a protective role?, Cmaj 173(8) (2005) 861-862.
- 33. V. Marek, S. Mélik-Parsadaniantz, T. Villette, F. Montoya, C. Baudouin, F. Brignole-Baudouin, A. Denoyer, Blue light phototoxicity toward human corneal and conjunctival epithelial cells in basal and hyperosmolar conditions, Free Radical Biology and Medicine 126 (2018) 27-40.
- 34. K. Renganathan, R. Collier, X. Gu, R. Salomon, M. Kapin, J. Hollyfield, J. Crabb, Similarities in oxidative damage from AMD and retinal light damage, Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 45 (2004) 293-303.
- 35. J.R. Sparrow, J. Zhou, S. Ben-Shabat, H. Vollmer, Y. Itagaki, K. Nakanishi, Involvement of oxidative mechanisms in blue-light-induced damage to A2E-laden RPE, Investigative ophthalmology & visual science 43(4) (2002) 1222-1227.
- 36. E. Anitua, M. de la Fuente, S. del Olmo-Aguado, C. Suarez-Barrio, J. Merayo-Lloves, F. Muruzabal, Plasma rich in growth factors reduces blue light-induced oxidative damage on retinal pigment epithelial cells and restores their homeostasis by modulating vascular endothelial growth factor and pigment epithelium-derived factor expression, Clinical & experimental ophthalmology 48(6) (2020) 830-838.
- 37. Y. Nakashima, S. Ohta, A.M. Wolf, Blue light-induced oxidative stress in live skin, Free Radical Biology and Medicine 108 (2017) 300-310.
- 38. X.-L. Zou, Y.-Z. Yu, H.-H. Yu, G.-F. Wang, R.-B. Pi, Z. Xu, et al., Protective effects of lipoic acid-niacin dimers against blue light-induced oxidative damage to retinal pigment epithelium cells, International journal of ophthalmology 12(8) (2019) 1262.
- 39. A. Yoshida, Y. Shiotsu-Ogura, S. Wada-Takahashi, S.-s. Takahashi, T. Toyama, F. Yoshino, Blue light irradiationinduced oxidative stress in vivo via ROS generation in rat gingival tissue, Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology 151 (2015) 48-53.
- 40. F.-Q. Liang, B.F. Godley, Oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial DNA damage in human retinal pigment epithelial cells: a possible mechanism for RPE aging and age-related macular degeneration, Experimental eye research 76(4) (2003) 397-403.
- 41. E. Hudson, B. Hogue, N.d. Souza-Pinto, D. Croteau, R. Anson, V. Bohr, R. Hansford, Age-associated change in mitochondrial DNA damage, Free radical research 29(6) (1998) 573-579.
- 42. M. Bonnans, L. Fouque, M. Pelletier, R. Chabert, S. Pinacolo, L. Restellini, K. Cucumel, Blue light: Friend or foe?, Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology 212 (2020) 112026.
- 43. P.-S. Oh, E.-M. Kim, S. Lim, M.-H. Sohn, H.-J. Jeong, Conditioned media from blue light-emitting diode– exposed fibroblasts have an anti-inflammatory effect in vitro, Lasers in Medical Science 36(1) (2021) 99-109.

- 44. S.W. Chang, H.I. Kim, G.H. Kim, S.J. Park, I.-B. Kim, Increased expression of osteopontin in retinal degeneration induced by blue light-emitting diode exposure in mice, Frontiers in molecular neuroscience 9 (2016) 58.
- 45. Z.-C. Zhao, Y. Zhou, G. Tan, J. Li, Research progress about the effect and prevention of blue light on eyes, International journal of ophthalmology 11(12) (2018) 1999.
- 46. Y. Niwano, A. Iwasawa, K. Tsubota, M. Ayaki, K. Negishi, Protective effects of blue light-blocking shades on phototoxicity in human ocular surface cells, BMJ open ophthalmology 4(1) (2019) e000217.
- 47. H.B. Hwang, H.S. Kim, Phototoxic effects of an operating microscope on the ocular surface and tear film, Cornea 33(1) (2014) 82-90.
- 48. M. Ayaki, Y. Niwano, T. Kanno, K. Tsubota, Blue light induces oxidative damage in human ocular surface cells in culture, Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science 56(7) (2015) 5613-5613.
- 49. M.A. Mainster, P.L. Turner, Ultraviolet-B phototoxicity and hypothetical photomelanomagenesis: intraocular and crystalline lens photoprotection, American journal of ophthalmology 149(4) (2010) 543-549.
- 50. K.A. Rezai, E. Gasyna, B.-L.L. Seagle, J.R. Norris, K.A. Rezaei, AcrySof Natural filter decreases blue light-induced apoptosis in human retinal pigment epithelium, Graefe's Archive for Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology 246(5) (2008) 671-676.
- 51. A. King, E. Gottlieb, D.G. Brooks, M.P. Murphy, J.L. Dunaief, Mitochondria-derived Reactive Oxygen Species Mediate Blue Light-induced Death of Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells¶, Photochemistry and photobiology 79(5) (2004) 470-475.
- 52. Z. Hu, Y. Zhang, J. Wang, P. Mao, X. Lv, S. Yuan, et al., Knockout of Ccr2 alleviates photoreceptor cell death in rodent retina exposed to chronic blue light, Cell death & disease 7(11) (2016) e2468-e2468.
- 53. H. Shaban, C. Richter, A2E and blue light in the retina: the paradigm of age-related macular degeneration, (2002).
- 54. Y. Kuse, K. Ogawa, K. Tsuruma, M. Shimazawa, H. Hara, Damage of photoreceptor-derived cells in culture induced by light emitting diode-derived blue light, Scientific reports 4(1) (2014) 1-12.
- 55. C. Glazer-Hockstein, J.L. Dunaief, Could Blue Light–Blocking Lenses Decrease the Risk of Age-Related Macular Degeneration?, LWW, 2006.
- 56. Y. Seko, J. Pang, T. Tokoro, S. Ichinose, M. Mochizuki, Blue light-induced apoptosis in cultured retinal pigment epithelium cells of the rat, Graefe's archive for clinical and experimental ophthalmology 239(1) (2001) 47-52.
- 57. J. Kim, K. Cho, S.-Y. Choung, Protective effect of Prunella vulgaris var. L extract against blue light induced damages in ARPE-19 cells and mouse retina, Free Radical Biology and Medicine 152 (2020) 622-631.
- 58. S.-y. Kang, J.E. Hong, J. Lyu, Blue-light induces the selective cell death of photoreceptors in mouse retina, Journal of Korean Ophthalmic Optics Society 21(1) (2016) 69-76.
- 59. M. Kernt, A.S. Neubauer, R. Liegl, K.H. Eibl, C.S. Alge, C.A. Lackerbauer, et al., Cytoprotective effects of a blue light–filtering intraocular lens on human retinal pigment epithelium by reducing phototoxic effects on vascular endothelial growth factor-⊠, Bax, and Bcl-2 expression, Journal of Cataract & Refractive Surgery 35(2) (2009) 354-362.
- 60. J.R. Sparrow, A.S. Miller, J. Zhou, Blue light-absorbing intraocular lens and retinal pigment epithelium protection in vitro, Journal of Cataract & Refractive Surgery 30(4) (2004) 873-878.
- 61. W.C. Tang, M. Leung, A.C. Wong, C.-h. To, C.S. Lam, Optical Interventions for Myopia Control, Updates on Myopia, Springer2020, pp. 289-305.
- 62. C. Ngo, S.M. Saw, R. Dharani, I. Flitcroft, Does sunlight (bright lights) explain the protective effects of outdoor activity against myopia?, Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics 33(3) (2013) 368-372.
- 63. L. Deng, Y. Pang, Effect of outdoor activities in myopia control: meta-analysis of clinical studies, Optometry and Vision Science 96(4) (2019) 276-282.
- 64. H. Torii, T. Kurihara, Y. Seko, K. Negishi, K. Ohnuma, T. Inaba, et al., Violet light exposure can be a preventive strategy against myopia progression, EBioMedicine 15 (2017) 210-219.
- 65. D. Saitawee, A. Teerakapong, N.P. Morales, P. Jitprasertwong, D. Hormdee, Photodynamic therapy of Curcuma longa extract stimulated with blue light against Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans, Photodiagnosis and photodynamic therapy 22 (2018) 101-105.

- 66. C. Chui, A. Aoki, Y. Takeuchi, Y. Sasaki, K. Hiratsuka, Y. Abiko, Y. Izumi, Antimicrobial effect of photodynamic therapy using high-power blue light-emitting diode and red-dye agent on Porphyromonas gingivalis, Journal of periodontal research 48(6) (2013) 696-705.
- 67. Y. Wang, Y. Wang, Y. Wang, C.K. Murray, M.R. Hamblin, D.C. Hooper, T. Dai, Antimicrobial blue light inactivation of pathogenic microbes: State of the art, Drug Resistance Updates 33 (2017) 1-22.
- 68. S. Lu, X. Zhang, Z. Tang, H. Xiao, M. Zhang, K. Liu, et al., Mussel-inspired blue-light-activated cellulose-based adhesive hydrogel with fast gelation, rapid haemostasis and antibacterial property for wound healing, Chemical Engineering Journal 417 (2021) 129329.

## 1.3 The Visual Effect of Blue Light

#### Abstract

It has been discovered that blue light is absorbed both by retinal photoreceptors and nonvisual retinal ganglion cells known as ipRGCs. The visual impact goes well beyond perceiving the color blue, influencing dynamic visual acuity and oculomotor function. Blocking blue light from entering the eye has been shown to affect chromatic contrast, glare disability, and photostress recovery time.

- 1. A. Kawasaki, R.H. Kardon, intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells, Journal of Neuro-ophthalmology 27(3) (2007) 195-204.
- 2. A. Ali, M. Roy, H.S. Alzahrani, S.K. Khuu, The effect of blue light filtering lenses on speed perception, Scientific Reports 11(1) (2021) 1-10.
- 3. H.-H. Lee, S.-L. Yeh, Blue-light effects on saccadic eye movements and attentional disengagement, Attention, Perception, & amp; Psychophysics 83(4) (2021) 1713-1728.
- 4. H.S. Alzahrani, S.K. Khuu, A. Ali, M. Roy, The Effect of Blue-blocking Lenses on Photostress Recovery Times, Optometry and Vision Science 97(11) (2020) 995-1004.

#### Introduction

Blue light includes the short-wave end of the spectrum and is refracted more as it travels through mediums than the longer wavelengths. The exact nanometer of this segment of the color spectrum is not clear cut but generally accepted to include up to 500nm, where 400-500nm is considered high energy visible light[1-3]. The central fovea is known to be tritanopic, or blind to this blue–light[4]. This same area is one with the highest potential for acuity. These physical traits affect visual clarity and perception when full spectrum light reaches the retina[5].

#### **Retina and Blue Light**

Blue light's short wavelength and high refractive angle mean it will focus not in the center of the retina but instead in the front of the retina. Long exposure time to blue light has been shown to cause symptoms of visual fatigue such as diplopia, blur, or inability to concentrate, which affects learning and working efficiency. [6-8] Blue light and Visual Functions

Blue light contributes to visual functions well beyond static color perception and acuity, though often only under specific conditions. As information from research emerges, these characteristics can help decide when to enhance and when to block blue light from entering the eye more precisely [9, 10].

#### **Circadian Rhythm and Blue Light**

Blue light had been noted in the literature as a parasympathetic activator, and sensory depressant, particularly the region of 465-495 nm, has been established to initiate aspects of the circadian rhythm[9, 10]. Intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells (ipRGCs), nonvisual photoreceptors, seem to react to this light, as they express melanopsin[11, 12], a blue light-sensitive photopigment [13, 14]. These cells have been discovered to influence the circadian rhythm and have been suggested to enhance alertness. [13-15] IpRGCs are also sensitive to motion perception.

#### **Dynamic Visual Acuity and Blue Light**

Dynamic visual acuity pertains to detecting and recognizing a target while either the target or the subject is in motion[16-20]. In one investigation, blue light has been shown to enhance dynamic visual discrimination under difficult task conditions[14], perhaps through this same mechanism. Other research found reduced speed perception between 6-20% when viewing chromatic and achromatic test stimuli through blue-blocking filters[21]. They reported that the lenses that attenuated the most blue-light also produced the most significant decrease in perceived speed, but this was also affected by overall luminance and stimulus color (red and green stimuli were largely unaffected)[21].

#### **Oculomotor Functions and Blue Light**

Various researches investigated the influence of blue light on oculomotor functions and found enhanced pursuits compared to orange light. Similarly, saccade speed was enhanced, precisely horizontal shorter saccade latencies with blue light versus orange light[22, 23]. The hypothesis is that the brain regions that are highly correlated with dynamic visual acuity and attention are also correlated with eye movements, such as frontal eye fields (FEF) and cerebellum, which are known to be influenced via the blue-light sensitive ipRCGs[22].

#### The Benefits of Blocking Blue Light

Blocking blue light from entering the eye has been indicated to prevent multiple adverse physiological aftereffects. Some unintended side effects, particularly at low light or mesopic levels, include reduced color sensitivity, reduced contrast sensitivity, and increased photostress recovery time[24, 25]. Additional factors besides blue light influence abilities such as age, adaptive state, and macular pigments at the time of observation. Other studies have found violet light-filtering intraocular lens (IOL) implants yielded a reduction of cyanopsia and a potential improvement in contrast sensitivity in photopic conditions and background dependent (for example, if the background is blue)[26-28]. The different chromophores of the IOL and various material and design options may also have contributed.[29]Alternative observations reported that blue light-filtering IOLs have demonstrated that they improve chromatic contrast, decrease glare disability but actually decrease photostress recovery time compared to non-blue-filter IOLs. However, an advantage compared to ultraviolet filtering IOLs is inconclusive.[22, 30, 31]

- 1. H.R. Taylor, S.K. West, F.S. Rosenthal, B. Muñoz, H.S. Newland, H. Abbey, E.A. Emmett, Effect of ultraviolet radiation on cataract formation, New England journal of medicine 319(22) (1988) 1429-1433.
- 2. G.W. Good, Light and eye damage, American Optometric Association (2014) 1-13.
- 3. D. Sliney, What is light? The visible spectrum and beyond, Eye 30(2) (2016) 222-229.
- 4. D.R. Williams, D.I. MacLeod, M.M. Hayhoe, Foveal tritanopia, Vision Research 21(9) (1981) 1341-1356.
- 5. G. Wald, Human vision and the spectrum, Science 101(2635) (1945) 653-658.
- 6. Z.-C. Zhao, Y. Zhou, G. Tan, J. Li, Research progress about the effect and prevention of blue light on eyes, International journal of ophthalmology 11(12) (2018) 1999.
- 7. J.-X. Tao, W.-C. Zhou, X.-G. Zhu, Mitochondria as potential targets and initiators of the blue light hazard to the retina, Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity 2019 (2019).
- 8. J. Wu, S. Seregard, B. Spångberg, M. Oskarsson, E. Chen, Blue light induced apoptosis in rat retina, Eye 13(4) (1999) 577-583.
- 9. E. Kitchel, The effects of blue light on ocular health, Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness 94(6) (2000) 399-403.
- 10. C.C. Gomes, S. Preto, Blue light: A blessing or a curse?, Procedia Manufacturing 3 (2015) 4472-4479.
- 11. M. Koyanagi, K. Kubokawa, H. Tsukamoto, Y. Shichida, A. Terakita, Cephalochordate melanopsin: evolutionary linkage between invertebrate visual cells and vertebrate photosensitive retinal ganglion cells, Current Biology 15(11) (2005) 1065-1069.
- 12. A. Kawasaki, R.H. Kardon, Intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells, Journal of Neuro-ophthalmology 27(3) (2007) 195-204.
- 13. L. Lazzerini Ospri, G. Prusky, S. Hattar, Mood, the circadian system, and melanopsin retinal ganglion cells, Annual review of neuroscience 40 (2017) 539-556.
- 14. H.-W. Chen, S.-L. Yeh, Effects of Blue Light on Dynamic Vision, Frontiers in psychology 10 (2019) 497.
- 15. X. Ouyang, J. Yang, Z. Hong, Y. Wu, Y. Xie, G. Wang, Mechanisms of blue light-induced eye hazard and protective measures: A review, Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy 130 (2020) 110577.
- 16. [16] S.M.J. MortazaVI, S.A. Mortazavi, P. Habibzadeh, G. Mortazavi, Is it blue light or increased electromagnetic fields which affects the circadian rhythm in people who use smartphones at night, Iranian journal of public health 45(3) (2016) 405-406.
- 17. J.H. Oh, H. Yoo, H.K. Park, Y.R. Do, Analysis of circadian properties and healthy levels of blue light from smartphones at night, Scientific reports 5(1) (2015) 1-9.

- 18. W. Gehring, M. Rosbash, The coevolution of blue-light photoreception and circadian rhythms, Journal of Molecular Evolution 57(1) (2003) S286-S289.
- 19. S. Wahl, M. Engelhardt, P. Schaupp, C. Lappe, I.V. Ivanov, The inner clock—Blue light sets the human rhythm, Journal of biophotonics 12(12) (2019) e201900102.
- 20. D.C. Holzman, What's in a color? The unique human health effects of blue light, National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, 2010.
- 21. A. Ali, M. Roy, H.S. Alzahrani, S.K. Khuu, The effect of blue light filtering lenses on speed perception, Scientific Reports 11(1) (2021) 1-10.
- 22. H.-H. Lee, S.-L. Yeh, Blue-light effects on saccadic eye movements and attentional disengagement, Attention, Perception, & Psychophysics 83(4) (2021) 1713-1728.
- 23. H.-H. Lee, S.-L. Yeh, Blue light effects on the gap effect, Journal of Vision 19(10) (2019) 71a-71a.
- 24. H.S. Alzahran, M. Roy, V. Honson, S.K. Khuu, Effect of blue-blocking lenses on colour contrast sensitivity, Clinical and Experimental Optometry 104(2) (2021) 207-214.
- 25. H.S. Alzahrani, S.K. Khuu, A. Ali, M. Roy, The Effect of Blue-blocking Lenses on Photostress Recovery Times, Optometry and Vision Science 97(11) (2020) 995-1004.
- 26. A. Rodríguez-Galietero, R. Montés-Micó, G. Muñoz, C. Albarrán-Diego, Blue-light filtering intraocular lens in patients with diabetes: contrast sensitivity and chromatic discrimination, Journal of Cataract & Refractive Surgery 31(11) (2005) 2088-2092.
- 27. R.E. Braunstein, J.R. Sparrow, A blue-blocking intraocular lens should be used in cataract surgery, Archives of ophthalmology 123(4) (2005) 547-549.
- 28. J.A. Landers, D. Tamblyn, D. Perriam, Effect of a blue-light-blocking intraocular lens on the quality of sleep, Journal Of Cataract & Refractive Surgery 35(1) (2009) 83-88.
- 29. S. Nakano, A. Miyata, J. Kizawa, D. Kurosaka, K. Miyata, T. Oshika, Blue light–filtering and violet light–filtering hydrophobic acrylic foldable intraocular lenses: Intraindividual comparison, Journal of Cataract & Refractive Surgery 45(10) (2019) 1393-1397.
- 30. B.R. Hammond, V. Sreenivasan, R. Suryakumar, The effects of blue light–filtering intraocular lenses on the protection and function of the visual system, Clinical ophthalmology (Auckland, NZ) 13 (2019) 2427.
- 31. C. Brockmann, M. Schulz, T. Laube, Transmittance characteristics of ultraviolet and blue-light-filtering intraocular lenses, Journal of Cataract & Refractive Surgery 34(7) (2008) 1161-1166.

# About Digital Eye Strain (DES)

## 2.1 Dry Eye Disease Symptoms

#### Abstract

Dry eye disease (DED) is one of the most prevalent ocular surface disorders, defined as a multifactorial loss of homeostasis of the tear film accompanied by ocular symptoms. This encompasses a cycle of tear film instability, hyperosmolarity, inflammation, and ocular surface damage. Symptoms can be either visual or sensory and do not always correlate with one another.

- 1. M. Pistilli, M.G. Maguire, J.V. Greiner, P.A. Asbell, The Association between Signs and Symptoms in Patients with Dry Eye Disease, Investigative Ophthalmology & amp; Visual Science 59(9) (2018) 924-924.
- 2. T. Kojima, M. Dogru, M. Kawashima, S. Nakamura, K. Tsubota, Advances in the diagnosis and treatment of dry eye, Progress in Retinal and Eye Research (2020) 100842.
- 3. L.B. Szczotka-Flynn, M.G. Maguire, G.-s. Ying, M.C. Lin, V.Y. Bunya, R. Dana, P.A. Asbell, Impact of Dry Eye on Visual Acuity and Contrast Sensitivity: Dry Eye Assessment and Management Study, Optometry and Vision Science 96(6) (2019) 387-396.

#### Dry Eye Disease (DED) Symptoms

Dry eye disease (DED) is one of the most prevalent ocular surface disorders. After comprehensively reviewing the available international data, DED has been defined as "a multifactorial disease of the ocular surface characterized by a loss of homeostasis of the tear film and accompanied by ocular symptoms, in which tear film instability and hyperosmolarity, ocular surface inflammation and damage, and neurosensory abnormalities play etiological roles"[1]. Though clinically there is generally some overlap, DED has been classified into two subtypes known as aqueous tear-deficient dry eye, distinguished by inefficiency or inability of the lacrimal glands to produce tears, and evaporative dry eye generally attributed to excessive evaporation of the tears[2-4]. The former is typically associated with a compromise in the lacrimal functional unit and often may have an autoimmune element[5-10]. The latter, the more common, involves meibomian gland dysfunction (MGD), which results in modification or reduction of tear fluid lipids, causing compromise to the integrity and quality of the tear fluid[11-15]. MGD can be triggered by numerous pathological mechanisms, including inflammation, microbial contamination, and lipid deficiencies[16]. The plethora of triggers that induce DED includes allergy, surgery, environmental, chemical, or systemic, and each can be the genesis of a vicious cycle that is challenging to break[11-15].

Symptoms of DED are as varied as the causes and range from almost undetectable to visually debilitating, painful, and severely compromising the quality of life[17-21]. Depending on the cause, symptoms can present in the morning, night, or unrelated to a specific time. Patients sometimes present with symptoms they do not associate with DED as the origin[11, 22, 23].

Symptoms can be categorized as visual and sensational. The former would include fluctuating or constant blurry vision, glare, decreased contrast sensitivity, and sometimes these present as the initial complaint[19-21]. Visual symptoms result from an unstable tear film, as a smooth refractive surface is critical for optimal visual performance[1]. Eye fatigue and strain often develop as the patient attempts to continue the task at hand through the blur[11, 19-21, 23].

Watery eyes, frequently a reaction of the lacrimal gland to the lack of a quality tear film, are often experienced as a perplexing symptom from the patients' perspective[24-27]. Furthermore, when the tear film's aqueous layer is decreased, the lipids and mucus layers may contact, resulting in a stringy discharge[11, 19-23].

Patients may complain of itchy, stinging, gritty, or a foreign sensation that stems from a dysfunctional tear film, whose task is to prevent friction between the rough lid and ocular surface[11, 18-20, 22].

Red eye is a general term that can be divided into palpebral conjunctival redness, where a limited horizontal area is red, which derives from the area being exposed too long to the environment, or general conjunctival redness where the blood vessels of the whole ocular surface are engorged to provide nutrients to the area inadequately supplied by the decreased tear film[13, 17, 19-22]. The lid margin can present as red to varying degrees, depending here too on the etiology. Inflammation that causes redness can be produced by MGD, or by exotoxins and bacteria that have not been washed away, or full-blown blepharitis resulting from dry eye, or, in chronic cases, capillary growth into the lid[7, 8, 13, 14, 20].

Symptoms without signs describe a unique scenario when a patient will complain of ocular pain disproportionately greater than the clinical signs. This can be caused by neuropathic pain due either to a lesion or disease in the somatosensory system, and treatment will be targeting pain management differently to DED[16, 28-33]. Similarly, reported symptoms can present in the absence of clinical signs when there is episodic dry eye or a pre-clinical dry eye state[8, 24, 26, 27, 32, 34, 35].

Alternatively, signs of ocular surface disease can be clinically observed, but the patient reports no discomfort. This scenario still may require DED management, as corneal nerve damage secondary to longstanding DED is a recognized occurrence, and the reduced corneal sensitivity can mask discomfort[9, 36-39].

If symptoms are severe, they compromise the physical functioning, social interaction, and general well-being of patients, resulting in a significant deterioration in the quality of life[20, 22, 40].

- 1. J.P. Craig, K.K. Nichols, E.K. Akpek, B. Caffery, H.S. Dua, C.-K. Joo, et al., TFOS DEWS II definition and classification report, The ocular surface 15(3) (2017) 276-283.
- 2. S. Nakamura, S. Kinoshita, N. Yokoi, Y. Ogawa, M. Shibuya, H. Nakashima, et al., Lacrimal hypofunction as a new mechanism of dry eye in visual display terminal users, PLoS One 5(6) (2010) e11119.
- 3. C.W. McMonnies, Conjunctival tear layer temperature, evaporation, hyperosmolarity, inflammation, hyperemia, tissue damage, and symptoms: a review of an amplifying cascade, Current eye research 42(12) (2017) 1574-1584.
- 4. M.E. Johnson, P.J. Murphy, Changes in the tear film and ocular surface from dry eye syndrome, Progress in retinal and eye research 23(4) (2004) 449-474.
- 5. C. Joffre, M. Souchier, S. Gregoire, S. Viau, L. Bretillon, N. Acar, et al., Differences in meibomian fatty acid composition in patients with meibomian gland dysfunction and aqueous-deficient dry eye, British Journal of Ophthalmology 92(1) (2008) 116-119.
- 6. E. Viso, F. Gude, M.T. Rodríguez-Ares, The association of meibomian gland dysfunction and other common ocular diseases with dry eye: a population-based study in Spain, Cornea 30(1) (2011) 1-6.
- 7. T.C. Chan, S.S. Chow, K.H. Wan, H.K. Yuen, Update on the association between dry eye disease and meibomian gland dysfunction, Hong Kong Medical Journal (2019).
- 8. C.H.Y. Teo, H.S. Ong, Y.-C. Liu, L. Tong, Meibomian gland dysfunction is the primary determinant of dry eye symptoms: Analysis of 2346 patients, The Ocular Surface 18(4) (2020) 604-612.
- 9. S.J. Dell, R.N. Gaster, S.C. Barbarino, D.N. Cunningham, Prospective evaluation of intense pulsed light and meibomian gland expression efficacy on relieving signs and symptoms of dry eye disease due to meibomian gland dysfunction, Clinical Ophthalmology (Auckland, NZ) 11 (2017) 817.
- 10. H. Wu, Y. Wang, N. Dong, F. Yang, Z. Lin, X. Shang, C. Li, Meibomian gland dysfunction determines the severity of the dry eye conditions in visual display terminal workers, PloS one 9(8) (2014) e105575.
- 11. D.A. Sullivan, B.D. Sullivan, J.E. Evans, F. Schirra, H. Yamagami, M. Liu, et al., Androgen deficiency, meibomian gland dysfunction, and evaporative dry eye, Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 966(1) (2002) 211-222.
- 12. W.D. Mathers, Ocular evaporation in meibomian gland dysfunction and dry eye, Ophthalmology 100(3) (1993) 347-351.
- 13. C. Baudouin, E.M. Messmer, P. Aragona, G. Geerling, Y.A. Akova, J. Benítez-del-Castillo, et al., Revisiting the vicious circle of dry eye disease: a focus on the pathophysiology of meibomian gland dysfunction, British Journal of Ophthalmology 100(3) (2016) 300-306.
- 14. P. Chhadva, R. Goldhardt, A. Galor, Meibomian gland disease: the role of gland dysfunction in dry eye disease, Ophthalmology 124(11) (2017) S20-S26.
- 15. K.E. Han, S.C. Yoon, J.M. Ahn, S.M. Nam, R.D. Stulting, E.K. Kim, K.Y. Seo, Evaluation of dry eye and meibomian gland dysfunction after cataract surgery, American journal of ophthalmology 157(6) (2014) 1144-1150. e1.
- 16. P. Agarwal, J.P. Craig, I.D. Rupenthal, Formulation considerations for the management of dry eye disease, Pharmaceutics 13(2) (2021) 207.
- 17. [O.D. Schein, J.M. Tielsch, B. Muñoz, K. Bandeen-Roche, S. West, Relation between signs and symptoms of dry eye in the elderly: a population-based perspective, Ophthalmology 104(9) (1997) 1395-1401.
- 18. K.K. Nichols, J.J. Nichols, G.L. Mitchell, The lack of association between signs and symptoms in patients with

dry eye disease, Cornea 23(8) (2004) 762-770.

- 19. M.A. Lemp, Management of dry eye disease, Am J Manag Care 14(3 Suppl) (2008) S88-S101.
- 20. J.D. Bartlett, M.S. Keith, L. Sudharshan, S.J. Snedecor, Associations between signs and symptoms of dry eye disease: a systematic review, Clinical ophthalmology (Auckland, NZ) 9 (2015) 1719.
- 21. J.L. Gayton, Etiology, prevalence, and treatment of dry eye disease, Clinical ophthalmology (Auckland, NZ) 3 (2009) 405.
- 22. A. Labbé, Y.X. Wang, Y. Jie, C. Baudouin, J.B. Jonas, L. Xu, Dry eye disease, dry eye symptoms and depression: the Beijing Eye Study, British Journal of Ophthalmology 97(11) (2013) 1399-1403.
- 23. J.A. Hovanesian, S.S. Shah, R.K. Maloney, Symptoms of dry eye and recurrent erosion syndrome after refractive surgery, Journal of Cataract & Refractive Surgery 27(4) (2001) 577-584.
- 24. M. Ayaki, K. Negishi, M. Kawashima, M. Uchino, M. Kaido, K. Tsubota, Age is a determining factor of dry eyerelated signs and symptoms, Diagnostics 10(4) (2020) 193.
- 25. L.B. Szczotka-Flynn, M.G. Maguire, G.-s. Ying, M.C. Lin, V.Y. Bunya, R. Dana, P.A. Asbell, Impact of Dry Eye on Visual Acuity and Contrast Sensitivity: Dry Eye Assessment and Management Study, Optometry and Vision Science 96(6) (2019) 387-396.
- 26. A. Recchioni, G. Bhogal, M. Aujla, J.S. Wolffsohn, S. Kolli, A. Hartwig, C. O'Donnell, Dry eye signs and symptoms before and after cataract surgery, Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science, ASSOC RESEARCH VISION OPHTHALMOLOGY INC 12300 TWINBROOK PARKWAY, ROCKVILLE ..., 2018.
- 27. E.S. Ong, E.R. Felix, R.C. Levitt, W.J. Feuer, C.D. Sarantopoulos, A. Galor, Epidemiology of discordance between symptoms and signs of dry eye, British Journal of Ophthalmology 102(5) (2018) 674-679.
- 28. S. Singh, S.S. Shanbhag, S. Basu, Tear secretion from the lacrimal gland: variations in normal versus dry eyes, British Journal of Ophthalmology 106(9) (2021) 1-5.
- 29. A.N. Siedlecki, S.D. Smith, A.R. Siedlecki, S.M. Hayek, R.R. Sayegh, Ocular pain response to treatment in dry eye patients, The ocular surface 18(2) (2020) 305-311.
- 30. K.A. Osei, S.M. Cox, K.K. Nichols, Dry Eye Disease Practice in Ghana: Diagnostic Perspectives, Treatment Modalities, and Challenges, Optometry and Vision Science 97(3) (2020) 137-144.
- 31. M.A. Lemp, G.N. Foulks, Dry Eye Disease: A Modern History, Foundations of Corneal Disease, Springer2020, pp. 23-30.
- 32. E.J. Kuklinski, M.M. Hom, G.-S. Ying, M.C. Lin, R.S. Chapkin, R. Jones, et al., Associations Between Systemic Omega-3 Fatty Acid Levels With Moderate-to-Severe Dry Eye Disease Signs and Symptoms at Baseline in the Dry Eye Assessment and Management Study, Eye & Contact Lens (2020).
- 33. T. Kojima, M. Dogru, M. Kawashima, S. Nakamura, K. Tsubota, Advances in the diagnosis and treatment of dry eye, Progress in Retinal and Eye Research (2020) 100842.
- 34. M. Pistilli, M.G. Maguire, J.V. Greiner, P.A. Asbell, The Association between Signs and Symptoms in Patients with Dry Eye Disease, Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science 59(9) (2018) 924-924.
- 35. S. Onomura, M. Kawashima, N. Aketa, S. Kondo, K. Tsubota, Effect of Ultrasonic Moisture Glasses on Dry Eye Signs and Symptoms, Transl Vis Sci Technol 7(5) (2018) 18.
- 36. E. Martin, K.M. Oliver, E.I. Pearce, A. Tomlinson, P. Simmons, S. Hagan, Effect of tear supplements on signs, symptoms and inflammatory markers in dry eye, Cytokine 105 (2018) 37-44.
- 37. J.A. Gonzales, A. Chou, J.R. Rose-Nussbaumer, V.Y. Bunya, L.A. Criswell, C.H. Shiboski, T.M. Lietman, How Are Ocular Signs and Symptoms of Dry Eye Associated With Depression in Women With and Without Sjögren Syndrome?, American journal of ophthalmology 191 (2018) 42-48.
- 38. L. Essa, D. Laughton, J.S. Wolffsohn, Can the optimum artificial tear treatment for dry eye disease be predicted from presenting signs and symptoms?, Contact Lens and Anterior Eye 41(1) (2018) 60-68.
- 39. L. Colorado, K. Edwards, L. Dinh, S. Ha, D. Liu, A. Luu, et al., Lifestyle factors and menstrual cycle phases: impact on dry eye signs and symptoms, Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science 59(9) (2018) 4903-4903.
- 40. B.D. Sullivan, L.A. Crews, E.M. Messmer, G.N. Foulks, K.K. Nichols, P. Baenninger, et al., Correlations between commonly used objective signs and symptoms for the diagnosis of dry eye disease: clinical implications, Acta ophthalmologica 92(2) (2014) 161-166.

## 2.2 Digital Eye Syndrome and Dry Eye

#### Abstract

Digital eye syndrome affects almost all users of screens for over three to five hours per day. The dry eye component includes both ocular and visual disturbances due to ergonomic and environmental influences, as well as detrimental behavioral adaptations such as enlarged palpebral fissure and reduced quantity and quality blinking. Treatment would include addressing the surrounding climate and ergonomics, and directly focusing on tear film rehabilitation via re-training proper blink and artificial tears.

- 1. K. Weisenberger, N. Fogt, J.S. Fogt, Comparison of nanoemulsion and non-emollient artificial tears on tear lipid layer thickness and symptoms, Journal of optometry 14(1) (2021) 20-27.
- 2. Turgut, Ocular Ergonomics for the Computer Vision Syndrome, Journal of Eye and Vision 1(1) (2018).
- 3. C.W. Lin, F.M. Yeh, B.W. Wu, C.H. Yang, The effects of reflected glare and visual field lighting on computer vision syndrome, Clinical and Experimental Optometry 102(5) (2019) 513-520.

#### Digital eye syndrome (DES) - Prevalence

Digital eye syndrome (DES) is so common as to be estimated to affect to some degree 90% of individuals who use digital screens for more than three to five hours per day[1, 2]. This currently includes approximately 60 million people around the globe and is ever-growing as screen use only continues to increase [1-6]. For decades a strong association between hours of use and DES has been demonstrated[3, 4].

#### **Definition of DES**

The American optometric association initially defined DES as a combination of ocular and visual disturbances an individual feels while working on a computer screen[2, 5-7]. However, over time the definition has evolved and encompasses not only computer screens, but all digital screens [2, 5-11], and the symptoms can persist well beyond the actual usage time[2, 5-7].

#### **DES Symptoms**

DES includes a wide range of visual, ocular, and musculoskeletal symptoms, some quite unspecific such as asthenopia, tired or strained eyes, blurry vision, fatigue, headaches, double vision, and dry eye[2, 5-7, 12]. These general symptoms can be subdivided into visual symptoms, digital screen symptoms, and ocular surface signs[13-17]. The solutions for visual symptoms are primarily optical to correct refractive errors or binocular imbalances, including vergence and accommodative issues[10, 14, 16].

The latter two categories will be further explained in an attempt to understand the etiology and alternative therapy courses[5, 7, 8, 10, 16, 17].

Disability glare is a commonly reported digital screen symptom. Usually, it results from ergonomic factors such as angle of the screen and head angle or screen settings such as a glossy refracting finish, brightness, resolution, or refresh settings[5, 7, 8, 10, 16, 17]. An additional cause for glare can be attributed to an unstable tear film, such as is seen in individuals with dry eyes, which scatters the refracted light [2, 16-19].

#### **Ocular Surface Signs of DES**

Ocular surface signs (OSS) typically consist of corneal epithelial and conjunctival fluorescein staining, typically in a "smiley" formation on the inferior palpebral fissure or in the central horizontal area[20]. Contact lens wearers are particularly vulnerable to what is known as lid wiper epitheliopathy, and lid parallel conjunctival folds [2, 16-19]. Several factors cause these OSS. It has been well documented that the blink rate decreases during digital screen use, regardless of the type of screen (computer, tablet, cellphone), which results in elevated dehydration of the tears[2, 14, 16-18]. A correlation was noted between smaller font sizes and a decrease in blinks per minute. This, combined with a larger palpebral fissure, as when looking straight ahead at a computer screen, can cause tear film instability and reduced secretion from meibomian glands[2, 14, 16-18]. This results in accelerated dehydration, dry

eye symptoms, and OSS. An incomplete blink has been detected in individuals looking at the computer screen at primary gaze level and in individuals who habitually look down at tablet or cellphone screens for hours a day[2, 14, 16-18]. Sequelae of this habit are an unstable tear film, Meibomian gland dysfunction, and ultimately dry eye ensues. Additional considerations such as a dry or air-conditioned environment further aggravate the exposed ocular surface[2, 7, 9, 14, 16, 17, 21]. The tear prism which accumulates at the lower lid margin evaporates much faster under these conditions[2, 14, 16-18].

#### **Treatment for Computer Vision Syndrome**

Ergonomic attention can help alleviate some of these factors. For example, lowering the computer screen will generally induce an inferior gaze and a narrower palpebral fissure[14, 16]. Induced distance viewing and intentional blinking can be prompted using a timed screen pop-up to break up extended uninterrupted screen time[2, 7, 9, 14, 16, 17, 21].

The most prevalent treatment for dry eye to alleviate symptoms is artificial tears [7, 13, 16]. Development of artificial tears has evolved dramatically from their initial formulas, primarily incorporating hydrogel polymers as the active ingredient. These polymers target the water and, indirectly, the mucin components of the tear film[7, 13, 16]. The hydrogel humectants swell into a gel form, mimicking mucin and forming a viscous membrane which relieves inflammation or irritation, thereby preserving the ocular surface microenvironment, each with unique chemical composition and characteristics [5, 9, 14, 16]. While artificial tears do not increase blink frequency, components can help increase tear endurance and stability, bridging the gap between blinks[5, 9, 14, 16]. Excessive evaporation of tears due to a compromised or absent lipid layer is a hallmark characteristic of evaporative DED[5, 9, 14, 16]. The tear stability is particularly vulnerable, as mentioned, in a decreased blinking environment, such as when observing digital screens. Artificial tear formulations at the forefront integrate active ingredients targeting the lipid layer of the tear film to prevent dehydration[22-24]. The first generation of lipid drop preparations used microemulsions[22-24]. These drops were very viscous and affected visual clarity, though they proved effective at providing a consistent barrier to excessive tear evaporation and superior prophylactic efficacy[25]. Advanced technology incorporates nano-emulsions. These are smaller droplets generally between 20-200nm with a lipophilic phase, a hydrophilic phase, and enough of some surfactant composition to reduce the interphase surface tension but not too much that would cause ocular irritation[26-29]. These nano-emulsions reduce the attractive force between the drops and seem to be affected little by temperature and pH[26-29]. After one month of use, this system has shown a capability to increase the lipid layer of the tear film, improving its stability and reducing evaporation of the underlying aqueous layer[29].

Current formulations generally do not interfere with vision and are usually compatible with contact lenses [30, 31].

- 1. U.R. Salve, Vision-related problems among the workers engaged in jewellery manufacturing, Indian J Occup Environ Med 19(1) (2015) 30-5.
- 2. S. Munshi, A. Varghese, S. Dhar-Munshi, Computer vision syndrome—a common cause of unexplained visual symptoms in the modern era, International Journal of Clinical Practice 71(7) (2017) e12962.
- 3. L. Al Tawil, S. Aldokhayel, L. Zeitouni, T. Qadoumi, S. Hussein, S.S. Ahamed, Prevalence of self-reported computer vision syndrome symptoms and its associated factors among university students, European journal of ophthalmology 30(1) (2020) 189-195.
- 4. A. Lorusso, S. Bruno, N. L'Abbate, Musculoskeletal disorders among university student computer users, La Medicina del lavoro 100(1) (2009) 29-34.
- 5. M.N. Zaman, Studies on Assessment of Tear Film in Visual Display Terminal Users with Computer Vision Syndrome and Non-Visual Display Terminals, Chitkara University Punjab, 2020.
- 6. M. Seguí-Crespo, N.S. Cantó, E. Ronda, R. Colombo, S. Porru, A. Carta, Translation and cultural adaptation of the Computer Vision Syndrome Questionnaire (CVS-Q) into Italian, La Medicina del lavoro 110(1) (2019) 37-45.
- 7. J. Parihar, V.K. Jain, P. Chaturvedi, J. Kaushik, G. Jain, A.K. Parihar, Computer and visual display terminals (VDT) vision syndrome (CVDTS), medical journal armed forces india 72(3) (2016) 270-276.
- 8. P. Ranasinghe, W. Wathurapatha, Y. Perera, D. Lamabadusuriya, S. Kulatunga, N. Jayawardana, P. Katulanda, Computer vision syndrome among computer office workers in a developing country: an evaluation of prevalence and risk factors, BMC research notes 9(1) (2016) 150.

- 9. A. Chawla, T.C. Lim, S.N. Shikhare, P.L. Munk, W.C. Peh, Computer vision syndrome: Darkness under the shadow of light, Canadian Association of Radiologists Journal 70(1) (2019) 5-9.
- 10. C.W. Lin, F.M. Yeh, B.W. Wu, C.H. Yang, The effects of reflected glare and visual field lighting on computer vision syndrome, Clinical and Experimental Optometry 102(5) (2019) 513-520.
- 11. K.D. Maribzhanovna, Application Of The Lutein Complex In Patients With Myopia And Computer Visual Syndrome, The American Journal of Medical Sciences and Pharmaceutical Research 2(08) (2020) 102-105.
- 12. M. Iqbal, O. Said, O. Ibrahim, A. Soliman, Visual Sequelae of Computer Vision Syndrome: A Cross-Sectional Case-Control Study, Journal of ophthalmology 2021 (2021).
- 13. H.-M.S. Thorud, M. Helland, A. Aarås, T.M. Kvikstad, L.G. Lindberg, G. Horgen, Eye-related pain induced by visually demanding computer work, Optometry & Vision Science 89(4) (2012) E452-E464.
- 14. M. Rosenfield, Computer vision syndrome: a review of ocular causes and potential treatments, Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics 31(5) (2011) 502-515.
- 15. J.D. Collier, M. Rosenfield, Accommodation and convergence during sustained computer work, Optometry 82(7) (2011) 434-40.
- 16. M. Rosenfield, Computer vision syndrome (aka digital eye strain), Optometry in Practice 17(1) (2016) 1-10.
- 17. B. Turgut, Ocular Ergonomics for the Computer Vision Syndrome, Journal of Eye and Vision 1(1) (2018).
- S. Ranganatha, S. Jailkhani, Prevalence and associated risk factors of computer vision syndrome among the computer science students of an engineering college of Bengaluru-a cross-sectional study, Galore Int J Health Sci Res 4(3) (2019) 10-5.
- 19. L. Mowatt, C. Gordon, A.B.R. Santosh, T. Jones, Computer vision syndrome and ergonomic practices among undergraduate university students, International journal of clinical practice 72(1) (2018) e13035.
- 20. M. del Rosario Sánchez-Valerio, K. Mohamed-Noriega, I. Zamora-Ginez, B.G.B. Duarte, V. Vallejo-Ruiz, Dry Eye Disease Association with Computer Exposure Time Among Subjects with Computer Vision Syndrome, Clinical Ophthalmology (Auckland, NZ) 14 (2020) 4311.
- 21. R. Kaiti, Computer Vision Syndrome: Is it being Diagnosed and Managed Properly?, Acta Scientific Ophthalmology 3 (2020) 13-20.
- 22. A.T. Epitropoulos, A. Therattil, L.M. Periman, E.D. Rosenberg, Improving tolerance and compliance with topical immunomodulators using micro-emulsion lipid layer artificial tears, Clinical Ophthalmology (Auckland, NZ) 14 (2020) 1921.
- 23. J. Chan, G.M. El Maghraby, J.P. Craig, R.G. Alany, Phase transition water-in-oil microemulsions as ocular drug delivery systems: in vitro and in vivo evaluation, International journal of pharmaceutics 328(1) (2007) 65-71.
- 24. A. López-Alemany, R. Montés-Micó, M. Garcia-Valldecabres, Ocular physiology and artificial tears, Journal of the American Optometric Association 70(7) (1999) 455-460.
- 25. P. Agarwal, J.P. Craig, I.D. Rupenthal, Formulation considerations for the management of dry eye disease, Pharmaceutics 13(2) (2021) 207.
- 26. J.P. Gilbard, S.R. Rossi, K.G. Heyda, Ophthalmic solutions, the ocular surface, and a unique therapeutic artificial tear formulation, American journal of ophthalmology 107(4) (1989) 348-355.
- 27. L. Tong, A. Petznick, S. Lee, J. Tan, Choice of artificial tear formulation for patients with dry eye: where do we start?, Cornea 31 (2012) S32-S36.
- 28. D. Acar, I.T. Molina-Martínez, M. Gómez-Ballesteros, M. Guzmán-Navarro, J.M. Benítez-del-Castillo, R. Herrero-Vanrell, Novel liposome-based and in situ gelling artificial tear formulation for dry eye disease treatment, Contact Lens and Anterior Eye 41(1) (2018) 93-96.
- 29. K. Weisenberger, N. Fogt, J.S. Fogt, Comparison of nanoemulsion and non-emollient artificial tears on tear lipid layer thickness and symptoms, Journal of optometry 14(1) (2021) 20-27.
- N. Wei, H. Dang, C. Huang, Y. Sheng, Timolol loaded microemulsion laden silicone contact lens to manage glaucoma: in vitro and in vivo studies, Journal of Dispersion Science and Technology 42(5) (2021) 742-750.W. Xu, W. Jiao, S. Li, X. Tao, G. Mu, Bimatoprost loaded microemulsion laden contact lens to treat glaucoma, Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology 54 (2019) 101330.

# **Ocular & Vitamin D**

### 3.1 The relationship between blue light and vitamin D

#### Abstract

Vitamin D can be sourced in humans either by external ingestion or via biological synthesis, primarily by ultraviolet radiation. Solar radiation is the primary source of blue light. A mutually beneficial harmony is created when ultraviolet light initiates the synthesis of vitamin D. The positive attributes of each component can be actualized, while the adverse effects of the light are diminished by vitamin D.

- 1. L.M. Martin, N. Jeyabalan, R. Tripathi, T. Panigrahi, P.J. Johnson, A. Ghosh, R.R. Mohan, Autophagy in corneal health and disease: a concise review, The ocular surface 17(2) (2019) 186-197.
- 2. L.M. Das, A.M. Binko, Z.P. Traylor, H. Peng, K.Q. Lu, Vitamin D improves sunburns by increasing autophagy in M2 macrophages, Autophagy 15(5) (2019) 813-826.
- 3. S.V. Jagoda, K.M. Dixon, Protective effects of 1, 25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 and its analogs on ultraviolet radiationinduced oxidative stress: a review, Redox Report 25(1) (2020) 11-16.

#### Vitamin D

Vitamin D is classified as a hormone because it can be synthesized in the skin and circulates to act at a target different from its source and a vitamin as most populations do not synthesize enough by this biochemical pathway[1].

#### **Sources of Vitamin D**

Vitamin D can be sourced in humans either by external ingestion (food or synthetic supplement) or through biological synthesis. The simplified mechanism by which vitamin D, or more accurately D3 (the second form of vitamin D, D2, is only ingested from external sources), is synthesized is as follows: ultraviolet-B radiation (UVB, 280-315nm wavelength) strikes the skin (or any tissue containing vitamin D receptors (VDR)), where a preform of vitamin D3 called cholecalciferol is synthesized from a precursor molecule of the steroid cholesterol called 7-dehydrocholesterol in the epidermis[2]. This vitamin D3 is biologically inert and requires hydroxylation, first in the liver and then in the kidney, to form the biologically active form of vitamin D,1,25(O.H.)2D[2]. Solar radiation is the primary source of blue light. Its' spectral shape and intensity vary with elevation, latitude, season, weather, and even the time of day[3, 4]. Exposure to the short wavelengths of light elicits both visual and nonvisual responses, can both promote aging and control circadian rhythms. One of the positive nonvisual responses of exposure to the sun is the synthesis of vitamin D3. However, that can further vary depending on age and skin pigmentation[2]. This synthesis predominantly occurs in the upper epidermis layers, where the highest concentration of 7-dehydrocholesterol is located. Irrespective of skin type, 70-80% of the skin melanin, the protective cells against photo-damage, is located at the basal epidermis and therefore does not impede with vitamin D production taking place at the upper layers[5]. Low serum concentrations have been observed in high pigmented individuals, and the decrease in skin pigmentation is held to be a necessary evolutional adaptation as people migrated from the equator, but the lower bioavailability is believed to be correlated to the number of pigment genes or genetic variations and not only the actual skin pigmentation[1, 2, 5]. The currently accepted human vitamin D requirement is serum 25(O.H.)D [concentration 30–60 nmol/l], but as evidence emerges, the recommendations for vitamin D status are being reviewed and increased. Vitamin D is necessary for calcium metabolism, a healthy skeleton and plays a role in vascular health[2]. More recently, research has suggested that vitamin D can provide additional benefits, including a protective effect against some

research has suggested that vitamin D can provide additional benefits, including a protective effect against some cancers (e.g., of colon, breast, prostate), a lowering of blood pressure, and possibly play a role in preventing the onset of some autoimmune diseases such as multiple sclerosis and type 1 diabetes[4]. Excessive radiation from short wavelengths from the sun can be detrimental, cause photoaging, and increase the risk of skin cancer[4]. As the vast majority of vitamin D acquisition comes from sun exposure (90%), not diet or vitamin supplements, this has implications for seeking methods on increasing production safely[4].

#### Cell homeostasis and health

Autophagy is a catabolic process by which a cell self-eats, degrading its' cytoplasmic contents, engulfed in autophagosomes, and turning them over to the lysosome for elimination or recycling[3, 6]. The process plays a crucial role in cellular homeostasis as autophagy mediates the degradation of cell components, recycled to generate the nutrients [3, 6, 7], and autophagy is upregulated in conditions such as oxidative stress when cells need to remove unnecessary or dysfunctional components[3, 4, 6, 7]. Research has only begun to examine the role of autophagy in the visual system while understanding that virtually all cell types from the cornea in the front of the eye [6] to the retinal pigment epithelium at the back of the eye, rely on one or more aspects of autophagy to maintain structure and normal physiological function[7]. Aging is a significant risk factor for various ocular disorders, including age-related macular degeneration in the retina, cataracts in the lens, glaucoma in the optic nerve, dry eye syndrome in the cornea, and corneal dystrophy[8]. A series of changes occur with aging. Proposed hypotheses to explain the process include increased oxidative stress (the most popular hypothesis currently), decreased mitochondrial energy metabolism, and accumulated mutations[8].

Alterations in autophagy are seemingly involved in several ocular diseases, such as dry eye, pterygium, and retinal neurodegeneration[9]. However, the exact modifications to the autophagy regulatory mechanisms are unclear[9]. One study showed that blue light stimulation could induce impaired autophagy by increasing nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain 2 (NOD2) activation on the ocular surface[9]. Blue light has high photochemical energy and induces cell apoptosis through reactive oxygen species (ROS) overproduction in the ocular surface and the retina, specifically to photoreceptors and retinal pigment epithelial (RPE)[9, 10]. It has been demonstrated that excessive ROS can cause severe oxidative stress and deficient autophagy[9]. Ergo, blue light has been shown to impair autophagy[11]. Increased oxidative stress and inflammatory molecules further aggravate clinical dry eye parameters, such as tear volume, tear film break-up time, and corneal epithelial staining scores[9]. As mentioned, vitamin D can be obtained from nutrient sources or naturally synthesized in the skin. It has been

found to influence the survival and fitness of cells through the modulation of autophagy[12]. More recently, autophagy has been implicated in playing an immunomodulatory role to counter environmental stressors in chronic inflammation and models of infection[12]. A recent study showed that vitamin D suppressed skin inflammation and accelerated tissue recovery by upregulating autophagy[12], identifying vitamin D-induced autophagy as a potential therapeutic option for treating ultra-violet-induced acute skin inflammation[12]. Summary

Thus a mutually beneficial balance is created when UVB light and vitamin D meet. U.V. exposure can detrimentally increase oxidative stress, apoptosis, and among its' other recognized attributes, positively trigger the synthesis of vitamin D. Vitamin D synthesis triggered by U.V. light is essential, and it further reduces the detrimental effects caused by the U.V. exposure, allowing for the advantages of both to be realized[13-15].

- Y. Lin, J.L. Ubels, M.P. Schotanus, Z. Yin, V. Pintea, B.D. Hammock, M.A. Watsky, Enhancement of vitamin D metabolites in the eye following vitamin D3 supplementation and UV-B irradiation, Current eye research 37(10) (2012) 871-878.
- 2. S.T. Wolf, W.L. Kenney, The vitamin D-folate hypothesis in human vascular health, American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology 317(3) (2019) R491-R501.
- 3. P. Boya, L. Esteban-Martínez, A. Serrano-Puebla, R. Gómez-Sintes, B. Villarejo-Zori, Autophagy in the eye: development, degeneration, and aging, Progress in retinal and eye research 55 (2016) 206-245.
- 4. A.R. Webb, Considerations for lighting in the built environment: Non-visual effects of light, Energy and Buildings 38(7) (2006) 721-727.
- 5. A. Hanel, C. Carlberg, Skin colour and vitamin D: an update, Experimental Dermatology 29(9) (2020) 864-875.
- 6. L.M. Martin, N. Jeyabalan, R. Tripathi, T. Panigrahi, P.J. Johnson, A. Ghosh, R.R. Mohan, Autophagy in corneal health and disease: a concise review, The ocular surface 17(2) (2019) 186-197.
- 7. L.S. Frost, C.H. Mitchell, K. Boesze-Battaglia, Autophagy in the eye: implications for ocular cell health, Experimental eye research 124 (2014) 56-66.
- 8. X. Yang, X. Pan, X. Zhao, J. Luo, M. Xu, D. Bai, et al., Autophagy and age-related eye diseases, BioMed research international 2019 (2019).
- 9. Y. Li, R. Jin, L. Li, J.S. Choi, J. Kim, H.J. Yoon, et al., Blue Light Induces Impaired Autophagy through Nucleotide-

Binding Oligomerization Domain 2 Activation on the Mouse Ocular Surface, International Journal of Molecular Sciences 22(4) (2021) 2015.

- K.-C. Cheng, Y.-T. Hsu, W. Liu, H.-L. Huang, L.-Y. Chen, C.-X. He, et al., The Role of Oxidative Stress and Autophagy in Blue-Light-Induced Damage to the Retinal Pigment Epithelium in Zebrafish In Vitro and In Vivo, International Journal of Molecular Sciences 22(3) (2021) 1338.
- 11. D.B. Lockwood, J.C. Wataha, J.B. Lewis, W.Y. Tseng, R.L. Messer, S.D. Hsu, Blue light generates reactive oxygen species (ROS) differentially in tumor vs. normal epithelial cells, Dental Materials 21(7) (2005) 683-688.
- 12. L.M. Das, A.M. Binko, Z.P. Traylor, H. Peng, K.Q. Lu, Vitamin D improves sunburns by increasing autophagy in M2 macrophages, Autophagy 15(5) (2019) 813-826.
- 13. D.E. Godar, R.J. Landry, A.D. Lucas, Increased UVA exposures and decreased cutaneous Vitamin D3 levels may be responsible for the increasing incidence of melanoma, Medical hypotheses 72(4) (2009) 434-443.
- 14. S.V. Jagoda, K.M. Dixon, Protective effects of 1, 25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 and its analogs on ultraviolet radiationinduced oxidative stress: a review, Redox Report 25(1) (2020) 11-16.
- 15. F. Uberti, V. Morsanuto, C. Molinari, Vitamin D in oxidative stress and diseases, IntechOpen2017.

## 3.2 The influence of vitamin D on ocular health

#### Abstract

Vitamin D is recognized to have many diverse functions, including immune regulation, proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, and angiogenesis. There is evidence that vitamin D assists in maintaining ocular health, and vitamin D receptors can be found in the cornea, ciliary body, lens, and retina. The multiple loci suggest that vitamin D levels may have a role in developing or preventing ocular diseases such as dry eye, myopia, uveitis, glaucoma, diabetic retinopathy, and age-related macular degeneration.

- 1. R.Y. Reins, A.M. McDermott, Vitamin D: Implications for ocular disease and therapeutic potential, Experimental eye research 134 (2015) 101-110.
- 2. J. McMillan, Spectrum of darkness, agent of light: myopia, keratoconus, ocular surface disease, and evidence for a profoundly vitamin D-dependent eye, Cureus 10(6) (2018).
- 3. M.S. Razzaque, Can adverse effects of excessive vitamin D supplementation occur without developing hypervitaminosis D?J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 180 (2018) 81-86
- 4. S. Sethu, R. Shetty, K. Deshpande, N. Pahuja, N. Chinnappaiah, A. Agarwal, et al., Correlation between tear fluid and serum vitamin D levels, Eye and Vision 3(1) (2016) 1-5.

#### Introduction

Vitamin D is recognized to have many diverse functions, including immune regulation, proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, and angiogenesis. The widespread expression and gene influence suggests vitamin D has pleiotropic effects[1]. There is evidence that Vitamin D assists in maintaining ocular health, and vitamin D receptors (VDR) can be found in the cornea, ciliary body, lens, retina, and retinal pigment epithelium[2]. The multiple loci of VDR suggest that vitamin D levels may have a role in developing or preventing ocular diseases[3, 4]. Appreciable concentrations of vitamin D metabolites can be observed in the tear, aqueous, and vitreous humor fluids[5], and one study measured a significantly higher 25-hydroxyvitamin D level in the tear film than the serum of 48 healthy individuals[6].

For example, epithelial cells in the cornea and conjunctiva can synthesize vitamin D3 metabolites in the presence of 7-dehydrocholesterol (the provitamin cholesterol) following exposure to UVB[5, 6]. Cathelicidins and defensins are primarily found in epithelial cells after activation either by an external infiltration or by 1,25-D (the hormonally active form of vitamin D). They may act synergistically to protect the eye from infections and assist with the conjunctiva and cornea wound healing. Cathelicidin additionally may promote wound healing[7]. One corneal manifestation of a vitamin D deficiency was discussed in a large retrospective study of over 10,000 patients, recognizing and monitoring changes primarily in the cornea and how they correlated to adequate versus inadequate vitamin D status[2]. This clinic utilized the Oculus Pentacam Scheimpflug imaging system (Oculus Optikgeräte GmbH, Wetzlar, Germany) to monitor changes. One consistent corneal vitamin D deficiency distortion pattern described was the development of corneal irregular or against the rule astigmatism involving the central optic zone[2]. This irregular cylinder component is not always observed during manifest refraction, as the mix of flat and steep regions sometimes along the same meridian cancel each other out to some degree while still generating a net loss of resolution. Lower light and contrast conditions, illuminated targets, pixels on digital screens are more prone to negative impact from this distortion. These distortions improved significantly with supplementation or adequate sun exposure, apparent topographically and optically[2].

#### Dry eye

Research delineating the relationship between dry eye and vitamin D deficiency has been explored since the 1960s, and over the past few years, has been quite extensive. Vitamin D deficiency has been demonstrated to cause symptoms associated with dry eye disease, but the relationship is complex as they are not codependent[8, 9]. Dry eye disease can occur with normal serum vitamin D levels, and other studies found similar vitamin D levels in both dry and non-dry eye patients[10]. The influence of age and the variability in dry eye parameters tested

between studies further obscures a definite direct correlation[10-13]. A meta-analysis of the published literature in 2020 presented that there seems to be a significant association between vitamin D and dry eye disease, specifically a negative correlation with Ocular Surface Disease Index (OSDI) scores[9, 13-18].

Vitamin D induces cytokine IL10 production and reduces additional inflammatory cytokines like IL1, IL6, TNF alpha, and C-reactive protein[8, 9, 19-22]. It further decreases inflammation by increasing antioxidant cytokines in tears and suppressing Th1 and Th2 cells[8, 19]. As vitamin D reduces tear osmolarity, tear film stability will improve and directly affect lacrimal gland function[23].

Vitamin D has an important role in estrogen biosynthesis and signaling. Insufficiency may contribute to dry eye in postmenopausal women, known to have increased dry eye disease and low estrogen levels, which has been implicated as a cause[23].

Past research has suggested vitamin D deficiency is associated with neuralgia and chronic pain. It seems vitamin D can influence the severity of symptoms by modulating nociception, as it affects nerve homeostasis and inflammatory responses.[9] Though the exact mechanism linking vitamin D to pain is still elusive, several hypotheses have been proposed. Firstly, vitamin D deficiency can directly or indirectly influence nociception on nerve fibers: Vitamin D is known to affect serotonin synthesis (serotonin perpetuates pain), which was found elevated in DED patients[9, 24]. Research has also indicated that vitamin D decreases nitric oxide production (a nociceptive neurotransmitter), thereby influencing pain modulation[9]. Vitamin D can inhibit maturation and induce tolerance in dendritic cells[9]. This would interrupt the inflammatory process. Therefore, a deficiency may indirectly induce an inflammatory process.

Vitamin D supplementation decreases ocular surface inflammation and improves several tear film features such as tear film break up time (TBUT), ocular surface staining, eyelid margin hyperemia, and tear secretion[1, 13, 19, 25]. As VDR have been found in ocular barrier cells, it has been suggested that vitamin D also improves corneal epithelial cell barrier function by helping gap and tight junction regulation[1, 23, 26].

#### Synergistic vitamin D therapy for dry eye

Cyclosporine-A (CsA) 0.05% is a topical immunomodulatory compound with anti-inflammatory properties demonstrated to be beneficial in treating dry eye. CsA affects subconjunctival and lacrimal gland inflammation, after which follows an increase in tear production and conjunctival goblet cell density[26]. It can take a few months for clinical improvement, and a study showed increased improvement when combined with vitamin D supplementation (systemic or buccal spray form)[26]. This study found similar efficacy with either vitamin D supplement modality. They further concluded that combined therapy with CsA was not significantly superior to vitamin D monotherapy[26].

Similarly, topical steroids have long been known to improve dry-eye associated symptoms, signs, and inflammation, enhanced with synergistic adequate availability of vitamin D[2]. Particularly interesting is to consider the enhanced treatment of dry eye signs and symptoms with this combination and add the ability of vitamin D to suppress the steroid effect on intra ocular pressure[2]. The enhanced effectivity of combined steroids and vitamin D has been established to treat psoriasis, another chronic, surface inflammatory condition. It could be explored as a combination topical treatment for the ocular surface[2, 27-29].

#### Vitamin D and myopia

Myopia development is multifactorial, influenced by both genetic and environmental components. Studies have shown that spending time outdoors is protective against increased axial elongation, evoking investigations in genetic variations and the possible role of vitamin D[1, 30-39]. Polymorphisms in the receptor and its start codon have been linked to myopia progression[2]. Studies have investigated possible VDR variations as myopia risk factors, as the VDR gene is close to MYP-3, loci associated with myopia[1, 30-33]. Vitamin D's ability to regulate calcium levels suggests a possible influence on deterring myopia progression by maintaining calcium homeostasis and consequently ciliary muscle function[1]. In summary, there seems to be a relationship between vitamin D and myopia progression, yet the exact pathway is undetermined[1, 30-36, 40, 41].

#### Uveitis

Uveitis is an inflammatory condition caused by an infection, or, more commonly, it has an autoimmune etiology[1]. Vitamin D's anti-inflammatory properties influence T cell response and can assist in suppressing autoimmune flares[42-44].

A retrospective study found an increased risk for uveitis, a noninfectious ocular inflammation, in patients with vitamin D deficiency[45] and supplementation, or sun exposure was associated with decreased uveitis activity[46, 47].

Behçet's disease is similarly an inflammatory situation, where more than half the patients with this disease have uveitis. A Chinese study found certain polymorphisms in 7-dehydrocholesterol reductase (DHCR7, necessary for vitamin D production) exhibited susceptibility to Behcet's uveitis, strengthening the possibility of a genetic link between uveitis and vitamin D[1, 45].

#### Glaucoma

Treatment with vitamin D modulated the expression of several genes involved in intraocular pressure (IOP) regulation in mice and rat cells[1]. Multiple studies have been conducted to determine if and how vitamin D administration will effectively lower IOP, but it is still not an accepted treatment method[48-51]. Whether the status of vitamin D is indicative of a risk factor for glaucoma is also, as yet, inconclusive[1, 52].

Vitamin D3 has been shown to modulate the immune response and decrease angiogenesis in the eye and other organs. Its' neuroprotective effect may be a protective factor for glaucoma, and vitamin D3 deficiency could explain glaucoma occurrence or severity in some patients[48, 53]. The potential physiological role of vitamin D as an anti-inflammatory agent in the oxidative stress-driven pathogenesis of primary open-angle glaucoma has also been considered[53].

The results of a small study group indicated that serum vitamin D levels were lower in patients with pseudoexfoliation syndrome with and without glaucoma, they did not find these levels to be statistically significant, nor have an effect on the development of PEX glaucoma/syndrome or the control of the disorder[12, 26].

In summary, studies suggest vitamin D could affect IOP by modifying gene expression of aqueous humor production or outflow or through neuroprotective effect[52-54]. Vitamin D has been linked to inflammation modulation, which influences neurodegeneration and its severity. Therefore, vitamin D has been suggested to influence inflammation and degeneration of neuronal tissue[48].

#### **Diabetic retinopathy**

Vitamin D inhibits neovascularization. This inspired researchers to investigate a possible relationship in diabetic retinopathy. Several studies found an inverse correlation between serum vitamin D levels and the severity of retinopathy[1, 52, 55-65]. Those with proliferative retinopathy had the lowest serum levels of 25(OH) D, some going so far as to consider it a biomarker for development[1, 66, 67].

Age-related macular degeneration (AMD)

Numerous studies suggest that a relative vitamin D deficiency status could be a potential risk factor for the development of early or late AMD[68-82].

Genetic determinants of vitamin D bioactivity have been identified in the vitamin D receptor (VDR) and the retinoic acid-X-receptor (RXRA)[68-72, 83]. RXRA forms a complex with 1,25(OH2)D bound to VDR and is recognized by vitamin D response elements found on genes[73, 74]. McKat et al. found no causal association was determined between the vitamin D genetic pathway and any stage of AMD but did find an association between neovascular AMD and vitamin D deficiency (categorized as <30nmol/l)[70].

#### Synthesis and bioavailability

Synthesis and bioavailability of vitamin D are affected by age, males versus females, and obesity[19]. When exposure to the sun and UVB is either unavailable or inadequate, vitamin D supplementation currently can be delivered orally or by intramuscular injection. Both are reported to be an effective way to increase and maintain serum 25(OH) D levels[5, 23, 26, 84-88]. Oral vitamin D supplementation affects vitamin D metabolite concentrations in the anterior segment of the eye[5].

One must consider that while a previous 25 (OH) D serum level of 50 nmol/l was considered sufficient for

health, the scientific and health community is reconsidering whether this is the case[89-93]. A global discussion readjusting and increasing recommended levels is underway, keeping in mind that excessive ingestion has its' own potential adverse effect such as hypercalcemia, hypercalciuria, and hyperphosphatemia, followed by their sequelae[94]. This intoxication can occur despite no measurable increase in serum levels of 25 (OH) D, as serum level does not always reflect uptake[94]. To date, there are limited topical options for vitamin D supplementation[67], though the potential benefits of such a product are abundantly clear.

- 1. R.Y. Reins, A.M. McDermott, Vitamin D: Implications for ocular disease and therapeutic potential, Experimental eye research 134 (2015) 101-110.
- 2. J. McMillan, Spectrum of darkness, agent of light: myopia, keratoconus, ocular surface disease, and evidence for a profoundly vitamin D-dependent eye, Cureus 10(6) (2018).
- 3. A. Thakkinstian, C. D'Este, J. Attia, Haplotype analysis of VDR gene polymorphisms: a meta-analysis, Osteoporosis international 15(9) (2004) 729-734.
- 4. J.A. Hallak, S. Tibrewal, N. Mohindra, X. Gao, S. Jain, Single nucleotide polymorphisms in the BDNF, VDR, and DNASE 1 genes in dry eye disease patients: a case-control study, Investigative ophthalmology & visual science 56(10) (2015) 5990-5996.
- Y. Lin, J.L. Ubels, M.P. Schotanus, Z. Yin, V. Pintea, B.D. Hammock, M.A. Watsky, Enhancement of vitamin D metabolites in the eye following vitamin D3 supplementation and UV-B irradiation, Current eye research 37(10) (2012) 871-878.
- 6. S. Sethu, R. Shetty, K. Deshpande, N. Pahuja, N. Chinnappaiah, A. Agarwal, et al., Correlation between tear fluid and serum vitamin D levels, Eye and Vision 3(1) (2016) 1-5.
- 7. G.K. Schwalfenberg, A review of the critical role of vitamin D in the functioning of the immune system and the clinical implications of vitamin D deficiency, Molecular nutrition & food research 55(1) (2011) 96-108.
- 8. C.-Y. Kuo, Y.-C. Huang, K.-J. Lin, T.-Y. Tsai, Vitamin d deficiency is associated with severity of dry eye symptoms and primary sjögren's syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis, Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology 66(4) (2020) 386-388.
- 9. R. Shetty, S. Sethu, R. Deshmukh, K. Deshpande, A. Ghosh, A. Agrawal, R. Shroff, Corneal dendritic cell density is associated with subbasal nerve plexus features, ocular surface disease index, and serum vitamin D in evaporative dry eye disease, BioMed research international 2016 (2016).
- C.-H. Yang, J. Albietz, D.G. Harkin, M.G. Kimlin, K.L. Schmid, Impact of oral vitamin D supplementation on the ocular surface in people with dry eye and/or low serum vitamin D, Contact Lens and Anterior Eye 41(1) (2018) 69-76.
- 11. M. Kizilgul, S. Kan, O. Ozcelik, S. Beysel, M. Apaydin, B. Ucan, E. Cakal, Vitamin D replacement improves tear osmolarity in patients with vitamin D deficiency, Seminars in ophthalmology, Taylor & Francis, 2018, pp. 589-594.
- 12. J.S. Hwang, Y.P. Lee, Y.J. Shin, Vitamin D enhances the efficacy of topical artificial tears in patients with dry eye disease, Cornea 38(3) (2019) 304-310.
- 13. G. Askari, N. Rafie, M. Miraghajani, Z. Heidari, A. Arab, Association between vitamin D and dry eye disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies, Contact Lens and Anterior Eye (2020).
- 14. P. Yildirim, Y. Garip, A.A. Karci, T. Guler, Dry eye in vitamin D deficiency: more than an incidental association, International journal of rheumatic diseases 19(1) (2016) 49-54.
- 15. J. Zhang, Y. Dai, D. Wu, J. Xu, Calcitriol, the active metabolite of vitamin D3, inhibits dry eye related corneal inflammation in vivo and in vitro, Ocular immunology and inflammation 27(2) (2019) 257-265.
- R. Shetty, K. Deshpande, R. Deshmukh, C. Jayadev, R. Shroff, Bowman break and subbasal nerve plexus changes in a patient with dry eye presenting with chronic ocular pain and vitamin D deficiency, Cornea 35(5) (2016) 688-691.
- 17. J.H. Lee, S.J. Kim, Y.-S. Byun, J. Lee, S.-H. Park, S.-H. Chung, The Association of Serum Vitamin D Level with the Severity of Dry Eye Parameters in Primary Sjögren Syndrome, Cornea 39(6) (2020) 702-705.
- 18. W.-J. Yang, Y.-N. Yang, J. Cao, Z.-H. Man, J. Yuan, X. Xiao, Y.-Q. Xing, Risk factors for dry eye syndrome: a retrospective case-control study, Optometry and Vision Science 92(9) (2015) e199-e205.

- 19. U. Sridhar, K. Tripathy, Commentary: Dry eye syndrome and vitamin D deficiency, Indian Journal of Ophthalmology 68(6) (2020) 1026.
- 20. A.-L. Khoo, L.Y. Chai, H.J. Koenen, M. Oosting, A. Steinmeyer, U. Zuegel, et al., Vitamin D3 down-regulates proinflammatory cytokine response to Mycobacterium tuberculosis through pattern recognition receptors while inducing protective cathelicidin production, Cytokine 55(2) (2011) 294-300.
- 21. S. Mateen, S. Moin, S. Shahzad, A.Q. Khan, Level of inflammatory cytokines in rheumatoid arthritis patients: Correlation with 25-hydroxy vitamin D and reactive oxygen species, PloS one 12(6) (2017) e0178879.
- 22. F.S. Lira, J.C. Rosa, C.A. Cunha, E.B. Ribeiro, C.O. do Nascimento, L.M. Oyama, J.F. Mota, Supplementing alphatocopherol (vitamin E) and vitamin D3 in high fat diet decrease IL-6 production in murine epididymal adipose tissue and 3T3-L1 adipocytes following LPS stimulation, Lipids in health and disease 10(1) (2011) 1-5.
- 23. S.Y. Yoon, S.H. Bae, Y.J. Shin, S.G. Park, S.-H. Hwang, J.Y. Hyon, W.R. Wee, Low serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels are associated with dry eye syndrome, PLoS One 11(1) (2016) e0147847.
- 24. S.E. Tague, G.L. Clarke, M.K. Winter, K.E. McCarson, D.E. Wright, P.G. Smith, Vitamin D deficiency promotes skeletal muscle hypersensitivity and sensory hyperinnervation, Journal of Neuroscience 31(39) (2011) 13728-13738.
- 25. S.H. Bae, Y.J. Shin, H.K. Kim, J.Y. Hyon, W.R. Wee, S.G. Park, Vitamin D supplementation for patients with dry eye syndrome refractory to conventional treatment, Scientific reports 6(1) (2016) 1-10.
- 26. P. Watts, A. Sahai, P.R. Kumar, M.A. Shamshad, G.K. Trivedi, L. Tyagi, A prospective study to assess the role of vitamin D individually and in combination with cyclosporine in the treatment of dry eye in patients with deficient serum 25 (OH) D levels, Indian Journal of Ophthalmology 68(6) (2020) 1020.
- 27. T. Soleymani, T. Hung, J. Soung, The role of vitamin D in psoriasis: a review, International Journal of Dermatology 54(4) (2015) 383-392.
- 28. J. Homik, M.E. Suarez-Almazor, B. Shea, A. Cranney, G.A. Wells, P. Tugwell, Calcium and vitamin D for corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (2) (1998).
- 29. K. Fogh, K. Kragballe, New vitamin D analogs in psoriasis, Current Drug Targets-Inflammation & Allergy 3(2) (2004) 199-204.
- 30. C.-W. Pan, D.-J. Qian, S.-M. Saw, Time outdoors, blood vitamin D status and myopia: a review, Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences 16(3) (2017) 426-432.
- J.W.L. Tideman, J.R. Polling, T. Voortman, V.W. Jaddoe, A.G. Uitterlinden, A. Hofman, et al., Low serum vitamin D is associated with axial length and risk of myopia in young children, European journal of epidemiology 31(5) (2016) 491-499.
- 32. S. Yazar, A.W. Hewitt, L.J. Black, C.M. McKnight, J.A. Mountain, J.C. Sherwin, et al., Myopia is associated with lower vitamin D status in young adults, Investigative ophthalmology & visual science 55(7) (2014) 4552-4559.
- 33. S.M. Tang, T. Lau, S.S. Rong, S. Yazar, L.J. Chen, D.A. Mackey, et al., Vitamin D and its pathway genes in myopia: systematic review and meta-analysis, British Journal of Ophthalmology 103(1) (2019) 8-17.
- 34. K.M. Williams, G.C. Bentham, I.S. Young, A. McGinty, G.J. McKay, R. Hogg, et al., Association between myopia, ultraviolet B radiation exposure, serum vitamin D concentrations, and genetic polymorphisms in vitamin D metabolic pathways in a multicountry European study, JAMA ophthalmology 135(1) (2017) 47-53.
- 35. D.O. Mutti, M.E. Cooper, E. Dragan, L.A. Jones-Jordan, M.D. Bailey, M.L. Marazita, et al., Vitamin D receptor (VDR) and group-specific component (GC, vitamin D–binding protein) polymorphisms in myopia, Investigative ophthalmology & visual science 52(6) (2011) 3818-3824.
- 36. J.A. Guggenheim, C. Williams, K. Northstone, L.D. Howe, K. Tilling, B. St Pourcain, et al., Does vitamin D mediate the protective effects of time outdoors on myopia? Findings from a prospective birth cohort, Investigative ophthalmology & visual science 55(12) (2014) 8550-8558.
- 37. G. Lingham, D.A. Mackey, R. Lucas, S. Yazar, How does spending time outdoors protect against myopia? A review, British Journal of Ophthalmology 104(5) (2020) 593-599.
- 38. G. Cuellar-Partida, K.M. Williams, S. Yazar, J.A. Guggenheim, A.W. Hewitt, C. Williams, et al., Genetically low vitamin D concentrations and myopic refractive error: a Mendelian randomization study, International journal of epidemiology 46(6) (2017) 1882-1890.
- 39. A.N. French, R.S. Ashby, I.G. Morgan, K.A. Rose, Time outdoors and the prevention of myopia, Experimental eye research 114 (2013) 58-68.
- 40. J. Laval, Vitamin D and myopia, Archives of Ophthalmology 19(1) (1938) 47-53.

- 41. D.O. Mutti, Vitamin D may reduce the prevalence of myopia in Korean adolescents, Investigative ophthalmology & visual science 55(4) (2014) 2048-2048.
- 42. S. Pillar, R. Amer, The association between vitamin D and uveitis: A comprehensive review, Survey of Ophthalmology (2021).
- 43. C. Sengler, J. Zink, J. Klotsche, M. Niewerth, I. Liedmann, G. Horneff, et al., Vitamin D deficiency is associated with higher disease activity and the risk for uveitis in juvenile idiopathic arthritis-data from a German inception cohort, Arthritis research & therapy 20(1) (2018) 1-9.
- 44. L.A. Grotting, S. Davoudi, D. Palenzuela, G.N. Papaliodis, L. Sobrin, Association of low vitamin D levels with noninfectious anterior uveitis, JAMA ophthalmology 135(2) (2017) 150-153.
- 45. S.M. Llop, S. Davoudi, L.K. Stanwyck, S. Sathe, L. Tom, T. Ahmadi, et al., Association of low vitamin D levels with noninfectious uveitis and scleritis, Ocular immunology and inflammation 27(4) (2019) 602-609.
- 46. A.J. Hall, Z. Chiu, R. Troutbeck, M.-L. Lin, L. Cecelia, L.L. Lim, Vitamin D levels and exposures in active and inactive uveitis patients, Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science 59(9) (2018) 1139-1139.
- 47. Z.K. Chiu, L.L. Lim, S.L. Rogers, A.J. Hall, Patterns of vitamin D levels and exposures in active and inactive noninfectious uveitis patients, Ophthalmology 127(2) (2020) 230-237.
- 48. H. Abouzeid, C.F. Samer, Vitamin D and glaucoma: a critical review of the literature, Journal of Ophthalmology 2020 (2020).
- 49. A. Goncalves, D. Milea, P. Gohier, G. Jallet, S. Leruez, M. Baskaran, et al., Serum vitamin D status is associated with the presence but not the severity of primary open angle glaucoma, Maturitas 81(4) (2015) 470-474.
- 50. T.K. Yoo, S. Hong, Is vitamin D status associated with open-angle glaucoma? A cross-sectional study from South Korea, Public health nutrition 17(4) (2014) 833-843.
- 51. H.T. Kim, J.M. Kim, J.H. Kim, M.Y. Lee, Y.S. Won, J.Y. Lee, K.H. Park, The relationship between vitamin D and glaucoma: a Kangbuk Samsung Health Study, Korean Journal of Ophthalmology 30(6) (2016) 426-433.
- 52. S. Li, D. Li, M. Shao, W. Cao, X. Sun, Lack of association between serum vitamin B6, vitamin B12, and vitamin D levels with different types of glaucoma: A systematic review and meta-analysis, Nutrients 9(6) (2017) 636.
- 53. B. Huynh, P. Shah, F. Sii, D. Hunter, N. Carnt, A. White, Low systemic vitamin D as a potential risk factor in primary open-angle glaucoma: a review of current evidence, British Journal of Ophthalmology 105(5) (2021) 595-601.
- 54. Z. Ulhaq, Vitamin D and its receptor polymorphisms are associated with glaucoma, Journal Français d'Ophtalmologie 43(10) (2020) 1009-1019.
- 55. J.F. Payne, R. Ray, D.G. Watson, C. Delille, E. Rimler, J. Cleveland, et al., Vitamin D insufficiency in diabetic retinopathy, Endocrine Practice 18(2) (2012) 185-193.
- 56. P.A. Patrick, P.F. Visintainer, Q. Shi, I.A. Weiss, D.A. Brand, Vitamin D and retinopathy in adults with diabetes mellitus, Archives of Ophthalmology 130(6) (2012) 756-760.
- 57. U. Alam, Y. Amjad, A.W.S. Chan, O. Asghar, I.N. Petropoulos, R.A. Malik, Vitamin D deficiency is not associated with diabetic retinopathy or maculopathy, Journal of Diabetes Research 2016 (2016).
- 58. F. Tecilazich, A.M. Formenti, A. Giustina, Role of vitamin D in diabetic retinopathy: pathophysiological and clinical aspects, Reviews in Endocrine and Metabolic Disorders (2020) 1-13.
- 59. H. Aksoy, F. Akçay, N. Kurtul, O. Baykal, B. Avci, Serum 1, 25 dihydroxy vitamin D (1, 25 (OH) 2D3), 25 hydroxy vitamin D (25 (OH) D) and parathormone levels in diabetic retinopathy, Clinical biochemistry 33(1) (2000) 47-51.
- 60. N. Alcubierre, J. Valls, E. Rubinat, G. Cao, A. Esquerda, A. Traveset, et al., Vitamin D deficiency is associated with the presence and severity of diabetic retinopathy in type 2 diabetes mellitus, Journal of diabetes research 2015 (2015).
- 61. S. Bonakdaran, N. Shoeibi, Is there any correlation between vitamin D insufficiency and diabetic retinopathy?, International journal of ophthalmology 8(2) (2015) 326.
- 62. M. Taverna, A. Sola, C. Guyot-Argenton, N. Pacher, F. Bruzzo, G. Slama, et al., Taq I polymorphism of the vitamin D receptor and risk of severe diabetic retinopathy, Diabetologia 45(3) (2002) 436-442.
- 63. B.-A. Luo, F. Gao, L.-L. Qin, The association between vitamin D deficiency and diabetic retinopathy in type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of observational studies, Nutrients 9(3) (2017) 307.
- 64. R. He, J. Shen, F. Liu, H. Zeng, L. Li, H. Yu, et al., Vitamin D deficiency increases the risk of retinopathy in Chinese patients with type 2 diabetes, Diabetic Medicine 31(12) (2014) 1657-1664.

- 65. M. Long, C. Wang, D. Liu, Glycated hemoglobin A1C and vitamin D and their association with diabetic retinopathy severity, Nutrition & diabetes 7(6) (2017) e281-e281.
- 66. G. Nadri, S. Saxena, A.A. Mahdi, A. Kaur, M. Ahmad, P. Garg, C.H. Meyer, Serum vitamin D is a biomolecular biomarker for proliferative diabetic retinopathy, International journal of retina and vitreous 5(1) (2019) 1-5.
- 67. R. Arita, M. Kawashima, M. Ito, K. Tsubota, Clinical safety and efficacy of vitamin D3 analog ointment for treatment of obstructive meibomian gland dysfunction, BMC ophthalmology 17(1) (2017) 1-6.
- 68. N. Parekh, R.J. Chappell, A.E. Millen, D.M. Albert, J.A. Mares, Association between vitamin D and age-related macular degeneration in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988 through 1994, Archives of ophthalmology 125(5) (2007) 661-669.
- 69. A.E. Millen, R. Voland, S.A. Sondel, N. Parekh, R.L. Horst, R.B. Wallace, et al., Vitamin D status and early agerelated macular degeneration in postmenopausal women, Archives of ophthalmology 129(4) (2011) 481-489.
- 70. G.J. McKay, I.S. Young, A. McGinty, G.C. Bentham, U. Chakravarthy, M. Rahu, et al., Associations between serum vitamin D and genetic variants in vitamin D pathways and age-related macular degeneration in the European Eye Study, Ophthalmology 124(1) (2017) 90-96.
- 71. A.G. Layana, A.M. Minnella, G. Garhöfer, T. Aslam, F.G. Holz, A. Leys, et al., Vitamin D and age-related macular degeneration, Nutrients 9(10) (2017) 1120.
- 72. S. Itty, S. Day, K.W. Lyles, S.S. Stinnett, L.M. Vajzovic, P. Mruthyunjaya, Vitamin D deficiency in neovascular versus nonneovascular age-related macular degeneration, Retina (Philadelphia, Pa.) 34(9) (2014) 1779.
- 73. A. Ferreira, N. Silva, M.J. Furtado, Â. Carneiro, M. Lume, J.P. Andrade, Serum vitamin D and age-related macular degeneration: systematic review and meta-analysis, Survey of Ophthalmology 66(2) (2021) 183-197.
- 74. C. Annweiler, M. Drouet, G.T. Duval, P.-Y. Paré, S. Leruez, M. Dinomais, D. Milea, Circulating vitamin D concentration and age-related macular degeneration: Systematic review and meta-analysis, Maturitas 88 (2016) 101-112.
- 75. S. Golan, V. Shalev, G. Treister, G. Chodick, A. Loewenstein, Reconsidering the connection between vitamin D levels and age-related macular degeneration, Eye 25(9) (2011) 1122-1129.
- 76. M.A. Morrison, A.C. Silveira, N. Huynh, G. Jun, S.E. Smith, F. Zacharaki, et al., Systems biology-based analysis implicates a novel role for vitamin D metabolism in the pathogenesis of age-related macular degeneration, Human genomics 5(6) (2011) 1-31.
- 77. A. Cougnard-Grégoire, B.M. Merle, J.-F. Korobelnik, M.-B. Rougier, M.-N. Delyfer, C. Féart, et al., Vitamin D deficiency in community-dwelling elderly is not associated with age-related macular degeneration, The Journal of nutrition 145(8) (2015) 1865-1872.
- 78. K. Kaarniranta, E. Pawlowska, J. Szczepanska, A. Jablkowska, J. Błasiak, Can vitamin D protect against agerelated macular degeneration or slow its progres1sion?-Review, Acta Biochimica Polonica 66(2) (2019) 147-158.
- 79. [79] S. Day, K. Acquah, A. Platt, P.P. Lee, P. Mruthyunjaya, F.A. Sloan, Association of vitamin D deficiency and age-related macular degeneration in medicare beneficiaries, Archives of ophthalmology 130(8) (2012) 1070-1071.
- 80. E. Kan, E.K. Kan, Ö.E. Yücel, The possible link between vitamin D levels and exudative age-related macular degeneration, Oman medical journal 35(1) (2020) e83.
- 81. W. Wu, Y. Weng, X. Guo, L. Feng, H. Xia, Z. Jiang, J. Lou, The association between serum vitamin D levels and age-related macular degeneration: A systematic meta-analytic review, Investigative ophthalmology & visual science 57(4) (2016) 2168-2177.
- A. Aoki, M. Inoue, E. Nguyen, R. Obata, K. Kadonosono, S. Shinkai, et al., Dietary n-3 fatty acid, α-tocopherol, zinc, vitamin D, vitamin C and β-carotene are associated with age-related macular degeneration in Japan, Scientific reports 6(1) (2016) 1-7.
- 83. A.E. Millen, K.J. Meyers, Z. Liu, C.D. Engelman, R.B. Wallace, E.S. LeBlanc, et al., Association between vitamin D status and age-related macular degeneration by genetic risk, JAMA ophthalmology 133(10) (2015) 1171-1179.
- 84. D. Oonincx, Y. Stevens, J. Van den Borne, J. Van Leeuwen, W. Hendriks, Effects of vitamin D3 supplementation and UVb exposure on the growth and plasma concentration of vitamin D3 metabolites in juvenile bearded dragons (Pogona vitticeps), Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology 156(2) (2010) 122-128.
- 85. Z. Lagunova, A. Porojnicu, L. Aksnes, M. Holick, V. Iani, Ø. Bruland, J. Moan, Effect of vitamin D supplementation and ultraviolet B exposure on serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations in healthy

volunteers: a randomized, crossover clinical trial, British Journal of Dermatology 169(2) (2013) 434-440.

- 86. W.B. Grant, Roles of solar UVB and vitamin D in reducing cancer risk and increasing survival, Anticancer research 36(3) (2016) 1357-1370.
- 87. R. Nair, A. Maseeh, Vitamin D: The "sunshine" vitamin, Journal of pharmacology & pharmacotherapeutics 3(2) (2012) 118.
- F. O'sullivan, E. Laird, D. Kelly, J. van Geffen, M. van Weele, H. McNulty, et al., Ambient UVB dose and sun enjoyment are important predictors of vitamin D status in an older population, The Journal of nutrition 147(5) (2017) 858-868.
- 89. P.P. Lerner, L. Sharony, C. Miodownik, Association between mental disorders, cognitive disturbances and vitamin D serum level: Current state, Clinical nutrition ESPEN 23 (2018) 89-102.
- 90. J.M. Pettifor, D.D. Bikle, M. Cavaleros, D. Zachen, M.C. Kamdar, F.P. Ross, Serum levels of free 1, 25-dihydroxyvitamin D in vitamin D toxicity, Annals of internal medicine 122(7) (1995) 511-513.
- 91. C.J. Rosen, Vitamin D insufficiency, New England Journal of Medicine 364(3) (2011) 248-254.
- 92. B. Dawson-Hughes, R.P. Heaney, M.F. Holick, P. Lips, P.J. Meunier, R. Vieth, Estimates of optimal vitamin D status, Springer, 2005, pp. 713-716.
- 93. H. Bischoff-Ferrari, Vitamin D: what is an adequate vitamin D level and how much supplementation is necessary?, Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology 23(6) (2009) 789-795.
- 94. M.S. Razzaque, Can adverse effects of excessive vitamin D supplementation occur without developing hypervitaminosis D?, J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 180 (2018) 81-86.